# The Home: A Cage or a Castle?

# The significance of *home* in the lives of two older people *ageing in place* in Nijmegen, the Netherlands



Master thesis

Date: April 4, 2019

Student: Lisa Roovers

Supervisor: dr. Roos Pijpers

Master: Human Geography

Specialisation: Urban and Cultural Geography

Image: Older woman sitting in a living room chair, looking out the window.

Andrew Murphy | Alamy Stock Photo

#### **Abstract**

Efforts to make cities and communities more age-friendly have gained popularity in recent years. One of the dominant approaches has been to encourage ageing in place (AIP). AIP policy (and the supporting literature) attaches particular importance to the neighbourhood and its community, and pays little, to no, attention to the home itself. It portrays a too negative image of home (as a space that imprisons and confines), and a too positive image of the neighbourhood (as a space that liberates and socialises). This case study research takes a more balanced view of the older person's home. By focusing on the interrelations between older people's time-space routines *inside* the home and those *outside* the home, this research moves beyond the homeneighbourhood (or private-public) divide. In this way, it accentuates the home's complexity. Firstly, this research shows that the home is a site of ambiguity, that is best defined by contrasting connotations. Secondly, it shows that the meanings of home, and the routines performed inside it, are never fixed; they are continuously altered and renewed. In brief, this research shows that the home is less of a *cage*, and more of a *castle*.

# **Table of contents**

1	Introduction	1
1.1	Societal relevance	4
1.2	Scientific relevance	6
1.3	Research aim and research questions	8
1.4	Thesis outline	9
2	Conceptual framework: age-friendly, rhythms & home	10
2.1	Age-friendly movement: taking part in the city	10
2.1.1	Background	11
2.1.2	Critique	13
2.1.3	The significance of the neighbourhood	14
2.1.4	Future challenges	16
2.2	Time-space routines in old age	17
2.2.1	Time in geography research	18
2.2.2	The rhythms of later life	20
2.2.3	Older people in place ballet	22
2.3	The home: beyond house and haven	23
2.3.1	Geographic histories of home	24
2.3.2	Disability and home	26
2.3.3	Home as a site of care	28
3	Methodology: case study	31
3.1	Focus on two older people	31
3.2	Case study research	33
3.3	Visiting Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot	38
4	Analysis	40
4.1	Introducing Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot	40
4.1.1	Mrs. Jacobs	40

6	References	65
5	Conclusion	59
4.4.2	Some rules are not meant to be broken	55
4.4.1	Just smile and wave	53
4.4	Routines beyond the inside/outside divide	53
4.3	Routines outside the home	49
4.2.2	Anchoring time and changing routines	48
4.2.1	Good things come to those who wait	47
4.2	Routines inside the home	46
4.1.2	Mrs. de Groot	43

## 1 Introduction

With quivering hands, Mrs. de Jong<sup>1</sup> (81 years old) stands waiting for the traffic light on the *Kronenburgersingel* – one of the busiest streets in the city centre of Nijmegen, the Netherlands. When the green light invites her, Mrs. de Jong makes an attempt to cross the road. Despite her best efforts, the green light starts to flash before she is even close to the other side. Clearly, the traffic light does not allow Mrs. de Jong enough time to cross the road. Mrs. de Jong tries to not let the flashing light affect her. She squeezes a little more in the hand grips of her Zimmer frame, and continues her walk at her own pace; arriving at the other side well after the light has turned red. Unfortunately, this is only one example of the many problems that older people face when going outdoors. Cluttered streets, uneven pavements, poor lighting and signage, all contribute to "pushing [older people] back into the home" (Phillipson in The Guardian, 2015). It seems, urban areas are not always appropriate for all ages.

And yet by 2050, two-thirds of the world's population will be living in cities, and almost a quarter of them will be aged over 60 (Rémillard-Boilard, 2018; Steels, 2015). Being highly concerned with the wellbeing of older people, the World Health Organisation (WHO) responded to this demographic development by publishing its *Age-Friendly City Guide* in 2007. The guide's purpose is to inspire local governments to become more 'age-friendly' – that is, more responsive to the needs and aspirations of older people. An age-friendly city "adapts its structures and services to be accessible to and inclusive of older people with varying needs and capacities" (WHO, 2007a, p. 1). When people grow older, it is likely that their call for a more supportive and enabling living environment "that compensates for the physical and social changes associated with ageing" will grow (ibid., p. 4). Therefore the guide offers a checklist of 88 'core age-friendly features' – directed at both the physical and the social environment of cities – that governments need to adhere to. In any case, this should make the simple act of crossing a road a less frightening experience for an older person like Mrs. de Jong.

Of course, the WHO is not the only one encouraging local governments to take on an age-friendly approach (Lui et al., 2009; Scharlach & Lehning, 2013). Nevertheless the WHO's checklist remains one of the most frequently used tools to evaluate the age-friendliness of cities and communities worldwide (Fitzgerald & Caro, 2014; Plouffe, Kalache, & Voelcker, 2016). To encourage implementation of its age-friendly programme, the WHO launched the 'Global

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The name Mrs. de Jong is a pseudonym.

Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities' (GNAFCC). Since its launch in 2010, the GNAFCC has seen a rapid increase in membership, now reaching over 700 cities and communities across 39 countries (WHO, 2018). Unmistakeably, developing what has been termed 'age-friendly cities and communities' (AFCCs) has gained immense popularity over the last two decades (Fitzgerald & Caro, 2014; Buffel, Phillipson, & Scharf, 2012). What the WHO has put in motion, deliberately or not, is a global age-friendly *movement* (Buffel, Handler, & Phillipson, 2018). Albeit more or less forced, by the converging trends of urbanisation and population ageing, a growing number of local governments are making efforts to develop urban environments that are accessible to, and inclusive of, all inhabitants.

Naturally, the cities and communities involved all employ different strategies to improve their level of age-friendliness. Yet, one of the more dominant approaches has been to encourage ageing in place (AIP) (Buffel et al., 2018). This also applies to the government of the Netherlands. In 2007, the Dutch government adopted the 'Social Support Act' (in Dutch: *de Wet Maatschappelijke Ondersteuning*). This act stimulates older citizens to 'age in place,' which is to age in their own home and neighbourhood (i.e. outside of institutional care) as long as possible (Rijksoverheid, 2017; Eerste Kamer, 2018). The Dutch governments' AIP policies have been criticised. The main criticism voiced towards AIP is that it is more a cost-cutting strategy than an age-friendly initiative. Indeed, ageing populations produce quite the expense for their governing bodies. The number of people appealing to expensive or long-term (institutionalised) healthcare will grow with the ageing of a population. This brings along additional charges that the Dutch government would like to reduce or postpone, and AIP might just be the method to do so (Wiles et al., 2012).

However, the Dutch government argues that AIP is, first and foremost, in the best interest of the older people, because it allows them to age within a familiar and predictable environment (Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport, 2018). Here, older people can rely on the extensive knowledge that they have of 'their' living environment, which enables them to maintain autonomy and independence (ibid.). Several authors in a wide range of disciplines support this claim of familiarity, with the physical and social structure of the neighbourhood, being important for older people's wellbeing (Gardner, 2011; Rowles & Watkins, 2003; Wiles et al., 2012). Their research suggests that a sense of familiarity or 'insideness' (Rowles, 1983) is developed over time, through spatial routines and habits and through the accumulation of memorable events. The remembrance of these events and one's life in the neighbourhood can invoke a sense of belonging and continuity, even in times of major change (ibid.). The longer older people live in an area, the more likely they are to develop strong emotional feelings

towards the neighbourhood (Buffel et al., 2014; Smetcoren, 2015) and therefore, they maintain a stronger sense of independence. Older people's attachment to place establishes itself, thus, through the length of time they reside in the neighbourhood.

However, other authors have refocused attention to other dimensions of time, such as timing (i.e. synchronisation of activities) and sense of time (Bildtgard & Oberg, 2015; Lee, 2014; Stjernborg, Wretstrand, & Tesfahuney, 2014). For instance, Debbie Lager and colleagues (2016) believe that an analysis of 'rhythms' offers a better, and more comprehensive understanding of older people's attachment to place, drawing here on the work of Henri Lefebvre (2004). Interestingly, their *rhythmanalysis* projects a more problematic view of the lives of older people AIP. It shows that older people's rhythms are slower than, and therefore 'out of sync' with, those of younger people in the neighbourhood (Lager, van Hoven, & Huigen, 2016). Because of this, older people can feel invisible (Burns, Lavoie, & Rose, 2012; Watson, 2006) and experience a sense of 'otherness' in urban space (Lager et al., 2016). Indeed, Mrs. de Jong may have felt out of place when she could not keep up with the traffic lights' time settings, whereas others (the younger pedestrians) reached the other side without any difficulty, even with some time to spare. In this sense, the neighbourhood is rather confirming older people's stasis (ibid.), than supporting its "[older] residents' wellbeing and productivity" (WHO, 2007a, p. 4).

Now, is encouraging AIP truly a wise decision? How age-friendly is (the Dutch approach to) AIP really? Are older people, residing in their own homes and neighbourhoods, really able to uphold autonomy and independence? This research describes the life stories of two older people (91 and 88 years old) that are AIP, in the neighbourhoods of Hatert and Nijmegen-Oud-West, in the city of Nijmegen. As part of my internship at the municipality of Nijmegen, I engaged in intensive contact with these two older adults through weekly visits. For 6 months, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot<sup>2</sup> invited me into their homes, and made me part of their weekly rhythms, or time-space routines. In this way, I was given the ability to investigate how well these older women were doing in finding their way on their own – not only around, but specifically *within* the home itself.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The names Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are pseudonyms.

#### 1.1 Societal relevance

Two converging trends are shaping social and economic life in the 21<sup>st</sup> century: population ageing on the one hand and urbanisation on the other (Steels, 2015). Population ageing is taking place all over the world. Globally, the proportion of those 60 years and over is expected to increase from 12.3% in 2015 to 22% in 2050 (ibid.). Of equal importance is the spread of urbanisation. Over half of the world's population (54%) now lives in urban areas, and this is expected to increase to around two-thirds by 2050 (Rémillard-Boilard, 2018). Hence, a growing number of people will live and spend their old age in cities. Similar trends are projected in the Netherlands. Here, the number of people over 75 will grow with 14% by 2040 (PBL, 2013). Whereas in 2012 there were 686.227 'older' older people (over 80), in 2040 there will be 1.554.742 (CBS, 2016). Of course, this change in demographics has major consequences for public policies related to ageing, and their impact on urban living.

As stated before, the Dutch response to population ageing has been to encourage AIP. With this, responsibility for organising social support, housing, and care for older people is being transferred from the public to the private domain (Lager, van Hoven, & Huigen, 2015). Hence, instead of governmental organisations; family members, friends, and neighbours become responsible for older people's wellbeing. This transition from the public to the private relies heavily on the existence of a 'supportive community.' The Dutch approach to AIP assumes that the immediate living environment (i.e. the neighbourhood) will act as a supporting, caring community, that will offer both instrumental and social support to its older and more vulnerable inhabitants (van der Meer, Fortuijn, & Thissen, 2008). In this vein, older people's social capital is envisioned as a "panacea for [their] problems" (Lager et al., 2015, p. 87). Encouraging ageing in *place* translates, thus, into promoting ageing in *community*. The Dutch government uses the potential of community support fairly often to legitimise its AIP policy and the privatisation of elderly care.

Indeed, Tine Buffel and colleagues (2014) consider the neighbourhood an important place in which social capital is acquired by older people. Although social capital is not necessarily neighbourhood-bound, in circumstances of limited social ties, financial constraints, and mobility problems, local social contacts are highly important resources for receiving instrumental and social support (Völker, Flap, & Lindenberg, 2007). As Claude S. Fischer (1982, p. 175) once argued: "[...] nearby associates are preferred when nearness is critical." Meeting opportunities and interaction possibilities in the vicinity become, thus, relatively important for those who are more dependent on their locality – such as the older people.

According to the study of Fleur Thomése and Theo van Tilburg (2000), 60% of the most important relationships in the social networks of older people in the Netherlands are located in the neighbourhood. Similar results have been reported in research of the 'Belgian Ageing Studies' (Buffel et al., 2012).

However, according to research of the SCP (The Netherlands Institute of Social Research, 2017), not every older person is able to mobilise a supportive network of family members, friends, and neighbours. Actually, the social networks of many older people are very limited (ibid.), and older people appear to have little to almost no contact with other age-groups in the neighbourhood (Lager et al., 2015). For this reason, it is no surprise that feelings of loneliness and solitude are growing in the Netherlands (SCP, 2017). In 2016, 17% of the age-group of older people declared 'feeling lonely,' which increased to 22% in 2017 (ibid.). The question arises, if diminishing institutionalised resources (i.e. AIP) will not only make this worse. The Dutch government did launch a new campaign called 'as one against loneliness' (in Dutch: *één tegen eenzaamheid*) on September 26, 2018, consisting of three television commercials (Rijksoverheid, 2018). In one of the commercials, we watch a conversation of an elderly couple. While drinking their morning coffee, they decide to invite their neighbour 'Henk' for one of their upcoming walks. The goal of the campaign seems to be to enhance supportiveness among neighbours, especially among those who are more vulnerable, in order to reverse the negative trend in loneliness.

Clearly, the (lack of) social contacts in the lives of older people remains a fierce point of debate to this day. However, there seems to be agreement on one thing: the answer to loneliness lies within the neighbourhood and its community; not in the home. Both professionals (policy-makers and care workers) and family members, neighbours, and friends, are eager to stimulate out-of-home activities among elderly people, as a way to let them meet, and interact, with others, and to prevent them from spending too much time at home. Indeed, in the Netherlands, there is a motley collection of (charity) organisations that are dedicated to the wellbeing of older people. With might and main, these organisations (operating on national, regional, and urban levels) try to organise trips, coffee mornings, and other group activities outdoors, to tackle loneliness and vulnerability among elderly people (see The National Foundation for the Elderly, 2019; Sterker Sociaal Werk, 2019).

For society, the home in later life is, thus, associated with loneliness, solitude, and deterioration, and in some respects, it is even envisaged as a prison cell (see Rowles, 1978). In brief, the home is considered a treacherous environment, where we need to keep our elders as far away from as possible. Yet, an increasing number of older people will live on their own,

and in their own homes – due to the Dutch governments' AIP efforts. This thesis contributes to a more nuanced image of home in later life. It not only includes the confining characteristics of home, but also its comforting and protective abilities. Hence, in this thesis the older person's home is not considered a *cage*, but a *castle*.

#### 1.2 Scientific relevance

It is not only on a societal level that the older person's home is portrayed in a negative light. Also in scientific literature, authors are concerned with older people "being secluded and trapped at home" (Zidén et al., 2008, p. 801). Older adults spending (a lot of) time at home is depicted as the problem, for which we need to find a solution. As a consequence, literature on 'urban age-friendliness' and on the 'rhythms of later life' focus, almost exclusively, on the home's surrounding locality (i.e. the neighbourhood). As stated before, age-friendly efforts are trying to adapt a city's "structures and services to be accessible to, and inclusive of, older people" (WHO, 2007a, p. 1). The WHO (2002) contends that older people who live in an unsafe environment or an area with multiple physical barriers are less likely to get out, and are, therefore, more prone to isolation, depression, reduced fitness, and mobility problems. In this view, ageing can only be a positive experience when seniors are able to "walk their neighbourhoods" (Ahrentzen, 2014, p. 286). It is only then, when they set foot outside, that they will feel 'included' (see also Buffel et al., 2014; Phillips et al., 2013).

In a similar fashion, literature on the 'rhythms of later life' focuses mainly on older people's routines and habits *outside* the home, in order to understand their attachment to place (see Bildtgard & Oberg, 2015; Lee, 2014; Stjernborg et al., 2014). For instance, Lager and colleagues (2016) draw attention to older people's slower rhythms. These slower rhythms affect the time available in the day to go out, and subsequently, older people can experience a shrinking life world (ibid.). Furthermore, the study of Lager and colleagues (2016) shows that older people's rhythms are no longer *in sync* with those of younger people in the neighbourhood. Consequently, older people can feel invisible and can experience a sense of 'otherness' in urban space (ibid.) (see also Burns et al., 2012; Watson, 2006). Because of this, there are limited opportunities for older people to acquire social capital (Lager et al., 2015). However, Dirk van Eck and Roos Pijpers (2017, p. 167) argue that using the urban living environment still allows older people "positive moments of contact – enjoyment, restoration, wonder" (see also Turel, Yigit, & Altug, 2007; Sugiyama, Thompson, & Alves, 2009;

Galčanová & Sýkorová, 2015). All in all, it appears that being able to go outdoors and 'walk the neighbourhood' (albeit in sync with neighbours) is quite essential for older people to satisfy their social needs – and to prevent them from becoming 'prisoners of space' (Rowles, 1978). It seems, the neighbourhood (and being able to use it) is the holy grail for living a happy, healthy, and fulfilling old age. It is, therefore, not surprising that many authorities adopt the AIP approach to enhance their level of age-friendliness.

Writings on 'home' show, however, that the spatiality of the home gives shape and meaning to people's everyday lives, in very complicated and contrasting ways. Alison Blunt and Ann Varley (2004, p. 3) contend that the home is both a space of "belonging and alienation, intimacy and violence, desire and fear." It appears, these mixed feelings are vital in understanding the meaning of home (Manzo, 2003). In this vein, Jeanne Moore (2000, p. 213) stresses that we "need to focus on the ways in which home disappoints, aggravates, neglects, confines and contradicts as much as it inspires and comforts us." However, up to now, studies on 'age-friendliness' and the 'rhythms of later life' have failed to acknowledge the inspiring and comforting qualities of home. In brief, these studies portray a too negative image of home, as a space that imprisons and confines, and a too optimistic picture of the neighbourhood, as a space that liberates and socialises (van Melik & Pijpers, 2017).

Additionally, older people are able to experience the neighbourhood in a more passive way; they can feel included in public life *at home*, through the window. In this observer role, older people "insert a part of the public domain into the privacy of their homes" (van Melik & Pijpers, 2017, p. 300). This blurs the sharp distinction between the inside and the outside (of a house); separating private from public spheres (Blunt & Varley, 2004). Besides, the home has become an important site of care for older people (Dyck et al., 2005; Liaschenko, 2000; Milligan, 2009). Many older people have to renegotiate public and private space, because of the regular presence of healthcare workers in their homes (Cloutier et al., 2015). The blurring of public and private space is a daily reality for them. On top of this, healthcare workers are an important source of social contact (van Melik & Pijpers, 2017). The question arises whether the sharp distinction between public space and private space still serves us. Seemingly, it would be more appropriate to move beyond the separation between the (public) neighbourhood and the (private) home (Blunt & Varley, 2004).

This also means that the meaning of home is never fixed; it is very much unstable and transitory (Hall, Chouinard, Wilton, 2010). In fact, home is a continuous process of negotiations, contracts, renegotiations, and exchanges (Folbre, 1986; Harris, 1981; Lawson, 1998). For anthropologist Daniel Miller (2001, p. 4), the private is "a turbulent sea of constant

negotiation." In this thesis, I recognise the home's contrasting, and constantly changing, connotations. This thesis contributes to a more nuanced image of home, by attending it as a site of ambiguity. Indeed, the home's protective functions will always be interconnected with its limiting ones; "feelings of solidarity, safety, and protection are often achieved by severe acts of exclusion and regulation" (Schröder, 2006, p. 33).

By including the concept of home, this thesis adds a new dimension to current theorisations on AIP and older people's rhythms (in time and space). Essentially, this thesis tries to break through the clear-cut line that is drawn between public and private space (between neighbourhood and home) in this body of literature – by displaying the home's complexity. It describes how older people's routines and habits *inside* the house are very much related to those *outside* the house, and demonstrates how these interactions beyond the public-private divide are constantly (re)shaping older people's use (and meanings) of *home*.

#### 1.3 Research aim and research questions

This study gains insight into the time-space routines of two older people AIP in Nijmegen, the Netherlands – by centring on how they structure (and attach meaning to) their daily lives *inside* and *outside* the home – with the aim of further developing our understanding of the role and meaning of home in the AIP experience, and determining the 'age-friendliness' of the AIP approach.

This leads to the following research questions:

What is the AIP experience of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot?

- 1. What do the time-space routines of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot *inside* the home look like?
- 2. What do the time-space routines of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot *outside* the home look like?
- 3. How are Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot's time-space routines *inside* the home related to their time-space routines *outside* the home?

#### 1.4 Thesis outline

The next chapter of this thesis, is the study's *conceptual framework*. This chapter is divided into three sections. The first section debates the WHO's Global Age-Friendly City Guide (2007a). Here, I address the origins of the age-friendly movement, the main criticisms, and future challenges. The second section draws attention to the temporal dimensions of ageing. Firstly, I give a short review of how 'time' has been used in geography research. Thereafter, I explore the 'rhythms of later life,' which are "out of synchrony in time and space" with those of younger residents (Lager et al., 2016, p. 11), and the light-touch sociality of 'place ballets.' The third section focuses on the spatiality of home, and its potential meaning in older people's lives. Firstly, I give a short overview of the geographical literature on home. Thereafter, I explore the meanings assigned to the home by persons with mobility impairments. Lastly, I discuss the home as an important site of care in people's later lives.

The chapter that follows, is the study's *methodology*. In this thesis' third chapter, I describe my search for informants, which happened through the organisation *Sterker Sociaal Werk*. Here, I also briefly refer to my first visits to Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. Thereafter, I explain the study's methodology: the case study. There is a wide diversity in themes and priorities in case study designs, which can make it difficult to define, and understand, the methodology. I try to explain the main commonalities. Next, I reflect on the limits of case study research. One of the main criticism on case study is its potential lack of generalisability. In other words, can the case study offer information that is useful beyond the individual case? Can findings be generalised? Another points of debate is the case study's objectivity. According to some academics, particularly those from 'hard' science traditions, the case study involves too many subjective decisions, made by the researcher, to offer genuinely objective results.

Chapter four presents the study's *analysis*. This chapter includes detailed illustrations and quotations from my conversations with Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot; with the general aim of providing a sense of 'character,' so that the reader might feel to get to know them. Firstly, I briefly introduce both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. Thereafter, I provide an analysis on Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's routines *inside* the home and their routines *outside* the home. Then, I discuss the routines that do not fit in any of these two categories, but confirm a blurring of the private-public (home-neighbourhood) divide. Finally, in the concluding chapter five, I answer the research questions. I present the study's main findings, while also considering their limits. Lastly, I offer recommendations for praxis and future research on AIP.

# 2 Conceptual framework: age-friendly, rhythms & home

This chapter considers three theoretical concepts: the age-friendly movement, time-space routines (in old age), and the spatiality of home. Section one discusses the age-friendly movement. The WHO's Global Age-Friendly City Guide (2007a) has attained great popularity in the last decade (Buffel et al., 2018). However, the guide has been criticised as promoting an 'ideal city' (Buffel et al., 2012), as a 'top-down' perspective (Lui et al., 2009), and as a tool unable to capture the diversity of the ageing experience (see Moulaert & Garon, 2016). Notwithstanding these critiques, the narrow focus on (the accessibility of and the community networks in) the living environment has remained. The importance of an accessible, enabling, and supportive neighbourhood for older people's wellbeing, is confirmed by an extensive body of academic literature on (older people's) time-space routines; set out in section two. Research in this field highlights how familiarity with, and being attuned to, the physical and social structure of the neighbourhood, is important for older people's wellbeing, because it confers a sense of belonging and independence (Gardner, 2011; Rowles & Watkins, 2003; Wiles et al., 2012). However, research has also shown that older people's slower pace of doing things, can make them feel 'invisible' (Burns et al., 2012; Watson, 2006) and 'out of place' (Lager et al., 2016). Albeit optimistic or critical, writings on older people's time-space routines focus, almost exclusively, on repetitive behaviours outside the home. Hence, they deepen and strengthen the notion of the living environment in AIP, but fail to recognise the significance of the home itself. To counter this one-sided narrative, section three focuses on the spatiality of home. Outside the framework of AIP, geographic literature does take into account the home, as one of the fundamental places that gives shape and meaning to people's everyday lives (Hall et al., 2010), albeit in complicated and contrasting ways.

#### 2.1 Age-friendly movement: taking part in the city

This section discusses the age-friendly movement, as it is initiated by the World Health Organisation (WHO). As stated before, the WHO is not the only one encouraging local governments to take on an 'age-friendly' approach (Lui et al., 2009; Scharlach & Lehning, 2013). Nevertheless, the WHO's *Global Age-Friendly City Guide* (2007a) remains one of the most frequently used tools to evaluate the age-friendliness of cities and communities worldwide

(Fitzgerald & Caro, 2014; Plouffe et al., 2016). The WHO's approach to age-friendliness is therefore the starting point of this section. First, I shortly address the origins of the age-friendly movement. Thereafter, I discuss the main critiques of the WHO guide of 2007, and the special attention devoted to the neighbourhood in age-friendly initiatives. Lastly, I consider the challenges that the age-friendly movement might encounter in the future.

#### 2.1.1 Background

The origins of the age-friendly movement can be traced back to several policy initiatives launched by the WHO during the 1990s and early 2000s (Phillipson, 2015). A central theme running through these plans was the idea of 'active ageing.' The notion of active ageing was originally developed during the United Nations' Year of Older People in 1999 and further developed by the European Commission (1999) and the WHO (2002). In its *Active Ageing Policy Framework* (2002), the WHO affirms that ageing can only be a positive experience when later life is accompanied by continuing opportunities for health, participation, and security. The word 'active' refers to older people's "continuing participation in social, economic, cultural, spiritual and civic affairs, not just the ability to be physically active or to participate in the labour market" (WHO, 2002, p. 12). Developing environments that are age-friendly can make the difference between independence and dependence for all individuals, but are crucial for those growing older (ibid.). Indeed, older people who live in an unsafe environment or an area with multiple physical barriers are less likely to get out, and are, therefore, more prone to isolation, depression, reduced fitness, and mobility problems (ibid.).

The idea of an age-friendly environment was applied to the urban context in 2005, with work around the theme of 'global age-friendly cities' (Rémillard-Boilard, 2018). The WHO conducted research in 33 countries across the global north and south (ibid.). The aim of this research was to identify the core features of an age-friendly city from the perspective of older people, caregivers, and local service providers (WHO, 2007a). A total of 1.485 older adults (60 years old and over), 250 caregivers, and 515 service providers took part in more than 158 focus groups, performed in various cities around the world (WHO, 2007b).

On the basis of these focus groups, the WHO identified eight domains that all need to be addressed in order to improve a city's age-friendliness: housing; transportation; respect and social inclusion; social participation; social and civic engagement; outdoor spaces and buildings; community support and health services; and communication and information (WHO,

2007a, p. 9) (see figure 1). The eight domains are accompanied by a checklist of 88 'core age-friendly features' (ibid.). The results were published in a guide entitled *Global Age-Friendly Cities*; also known as the WHO checklist (WHO, 2007a). This guide is one of the first attempts to operationalise the WHO's comprehensive concept of 'active ageing' (Warth, 2016; Moulaert & Garon, 2016), and has since become one of the most frequently used tools to assess the age-friendliness of cities, in very divers environments across the globe (Plouffe et al., 2016).



Figure 1: The eight domains of an age-friendly city (Handler, 2014, p. 15)

To encourage implementation of the age-friendly city guide, the WHO launched the 'Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities' (GNAFCC). Since its launch in 2010, the GNAFCC has seen a rapid increase in membership, now reaching over 700 cities and communities across 39 countries (WHO, 2018). The aim of the GNAFCC is to connect the local governments that are using the WHO's age-friendly approach (Warth, 2016) and to provide a platform for experience exchange (WHO, 2018). The network's name was changed from 'Age-Friendly Cities' to 'Age-Friendly Cities and Communities' (AFCCs) to also include smaller

communities (Moulaert & Garon, 2016). The size of the city or community does not matter: the GNAFCC membership includes small villages, and megacities such as New York City, Seoul, and Tehran (WHO, 2018). The WHO has put in motion a 'global age-friendly *movement*' (Buffel et al., 2018). An increasing number of cities and communities worldwide make commitments to become more age-friendly. According to the WHO this means that they are adapting their "structures and services to be accessible to, and inclusive of, older people with varying needs and capacities" (WHO, 2007a, p. 1). In other words, AFCCs are developing supportive and enabling living environments "that [compensate] for the physical and social changes associated with ageing" (ibid., p. 4).

#### 2.1.2 Critique

Despite its apparent popularity, the WHO's age-friendly city guide (2007a) is often criticised, by practitioners and by researchers (Moulaert & Garon, 2016). First of all, according to Buffel and colleagues (2012), the WHO guide is promoting a utopian or an 'ideal' city. Indeed, the WHO has created a checklist of 88 core age-friendly features, applying to "less developed as well as more developed cities," to provide "a universal standard for an age-friendly city" (WHO, 2007a, p. 11). Of course, the WHO's framing has had enormous success; it has made many authorities aware of the wellbeing of older people, and encouraged many to take the agefriendly road. In Canada alone, over 850 municipalities now participate in age-friendly initiatives, promoted by municipal, provincial, and federal governments (Plouffe et al., 2012). Nevertheless, Buffel and colleagues (2012) argue against the 'idealistic model' of the WHO (see also Phillipson, 2010; Liddle et al., 2014; Menec et al., 2011; Keating, Eales, & Phillips, 2013). They support a shift in focus "from questions such as 'What is an ideal city for older people?' to the question of 'How age-friendly are cities?'" (Buffel et al., 2012, p. 601). In a similar fashion, Lisa Warth (2016) declares that it is not a question of what an age-friendly city looks like, but rather what a city enables older persons to do and how well it caters to their needs. In brief, what makes a city or community 'age-friendly' is having a good fit between the older person and his/her environment – not conformity with a standard set of features.

Another critique of the WHO guide is that it is, in its current form, unable to capture the diversity of the ageing experience (Moulaert & Garon, 2016). Of course, the needs and preferences of older people are highly context-specific. The WHO recognises that there is no 'one-size-fits-all' solution when it comes to creating an age-friendly environment. It recommends local governments to tailor the model to their own needs, and to develop their own

programmes in order to benefit their level of age-friendliness (Rémillard-Boilard, 2018). The WHO meant to provide a set of key 'ingredients,' that remain flexible enough to be adapted to the local realities that local governments operate within (Warth, 2016). However, do these 'ingredients' also consider the diversity *within* the city or community? Buffel and colleagues (2012) question the WHO Guide's ability to deal with the complexities of cities, as they are places of interlocking – and often conflicting – commercial, social, and political interests. Besides, places, and people's interests, may change over time; a city that is age-friendly at one time may become unfriendly at another. Hence, becoming or remaining 'age-friendly' is an ongoing process (Moulaert & Garon, 2016), in which local authorities are constantly trying to capture, and respond to, *their* heterogeneity.

To understand a city's complexity, it is important to involve the experiences of the experts themselves – the seniors. This brings us to another critique of the WHO guide; it is primarily a 'top-down' approach, directed by local authorities to achieve pre-established criteria (Barusch, 2013; Lui et al., 2009). Of course, the engagement of older persons takes on different forms. The WHO's top-down approach primarily involves planners and policy-makers, and engages older people only in conventional ways through focus group meetings, interviews, and surveys (Lui et al., 2009). Others, like the Calgary *Elder Friendly Communities Program* (EFCP) in Canada (Austin et al., 2009), concentrate more on 'empowerment,' and engage older people as *the* main actors in enhancing neighbourhoods. In this respect, older people are not passive, dependent recipients of a community; they play a highly active role in defining and fostering the community's distinctive features (ibid.). Hence, age-friendly initiatives should be using a "strictly bottom-up" approach (Buffel et al., 2012, p. 601) and promote meaningful engagement among seniors (Austin et al., 2009). In other words, older people should not only be part of, but also take part in, the city's age-friendly efforts.

#### 2.1.3 The significance of the neighbourhood

As stated before, the development of AFCCs is often linked to the promotion of AIP (Buffel et al., 2018). This policy emphasises the role of community networks in offering (instrumental and social) support to more vulnerable groups, such as the group of older people. Apparently, it is not only the older people that have a strong desire to remain in their own homes (see Gilleard, Hyde, & Higgs, 2007); several authors believe that AIP is the means by which older people can best receive support (see Wiles et al., 2012). Their writings represent the neighbourhood as the "key [locale] in the lives (and wellbeing) of older people" (Gardner, 2011,

p. 263) and its community as a "panacea for [older people's] problems" (Lager et al., 2015, p. 87). AIP policy is, thus, mainly concerned with public places of ageing (i.e. neighbourhoods) (Buffel et al., 2018). But why exactly? In the book *Age-Friendly Cities: A Global Perspective* (2018), authors Fleur Thomése, Tine Buffel, and Chris Phillipson identify a range of factors that underpin the significance of the neighbourhood in later life.

First off all, the built environment effects the lives of all age-groups, but it may be especially important for young and older people, and those with a disability – given the length of time spent within the home and surrounding locality (Thomése et al., 2018). Based on research by Horgas and colleagues (1998), older people (70 years old and over) spend 80% of their time in their own homes and neighbourhoods. It seems, "seniors do not walk their cities, they walk their neighbourhoods" (Ahrentzen, 2014, p. 286). Growing frailty confines many older people to the close proximity of their homes (Shoval et al., 2010). Because of this, people's living space narrows down significantly in old age, making older people increasingly dependent on the 'character' of their immediate living environment (Thomése et al., 2018). Indeed, research shows that the presence of obstacles, slippery surfaces, and busy crossroads discourages older people's use of public space, whereas landmarks, distinctive buildings, and signs boost the confidence of seniors (Phillips et al., 2013). Hence, neighbourhood designs with good facilities, accessible public spaces, and places to rest, as well as measures that promote pedestrian walkability, play an important part in promoting older people's sense of safety and wellbeing (De Donder et al., 2013; Buffel et al., 2014).

Furthermore, the neighbourhood is an important place for older people to acquire social capital (Buffel et al., 2014). Although social capital is not necessarily neighbourhood-bound, in circumstances of limited social ties, financial constraints, and problems with physical mobility, local social contacts are highly important resources for receiving instrumental and social support (Völker, Flap, & Lindenberg, 2007). As Claude S. Fischer (1982, p. 175) once argued: "[...] nearby associates are preferred when nearness is critical." Meeting opportunities and interaction possibilities in the vicinity, thus become relatively important for those who are more dependent on their locality. Indeed, according to the study of Fleur Thomése and Theo van Tilburg (2000), 60% of the most important relationships in the social networks of older people in the Netherlands are located in the neighbourhood. Similar results have been reported in research of the 'Belgian Ageing Studies' (Buffel et al., 2012). Interestingly, the older persons that *are* in greater need of support, will not only appeal more often to their neighbours, they will actually receive the support they need (Thomése, van Tilburg, & Knipscheer, 2003).

Lastly, AIP policy is often associated with attachment to place (Thomése et al., 2018), which is seen as an important dimension of later life (Krause, 2004; Oswald et al., 2011). In fact, the study of Chris Gilleard and colleagues (2007) shows that both age and AIP positively affect older people's place attachment. This means that older people's attachment to place establishes itself over time (Lager et al., 2016). Simply put, the longer older people live in a neighbourhood, the more likely they are to develop strong feelings, and an affective bond, towards that neighbourhood (Buffel et al., 2014; Smetcoren, 2015). This underpins the significance of the neighbourhood in later life once more. Evidently, we cannot underestimate the prominence of the (immediate) living environment in fostering older people's wellbeing and self-assurance. What the aforementioned authors seem to overlook, however, is that the home itself *also* has supportive potentials. Yet, up to now, AIP has paid far too little attention to the significance of home.

#### 2.1.4 Future challenges

Just like any other place, a neighbourhood (and people's attachment to it) is subject to change. Especially when we take into account the notion of global change, which has received only limited acknowledgement within the age-friendly movement (Buffel & Phillipson, 2016; Thomése et al., 2018). Globalisation processes, and the resulting area-based, or geographic, inequality can, indeed, change the way older people experience 'community' (ibid.). The social and physical discontinuities associated with globalisation (for instance, new relationships associated with transnational migration or new types of movement in old age) can challenge one's social and emotional connections with the neighbourhood, especially when these changes are rapid and intense (Jones & Evans, 2012). This can lead to feelings of disorientation, grief, and alienation (Lager et al., 2013). According to Chris Phillipson (2007), globalisation processes have the potential to generate new social divisions between the "elected" and the "excluded;" between "those able to choose residential locations consistent with their biographies and life histories and those who experience rejection or marginalisation from their neighbourhood" (Phillipson in Thomése et al., 2018, p. 38).

These neighbourhood transitions may be especially challenging for older people, because growing frailty (and retirement) heightens the importance of the neighbourhood (Lager et al., 2013). Buffel and colleagues (2013) explored experiences of neighbourhood inclusion and exclusion among seniors living in deprived inner-city areas, in Belgium and England. In both countries, the population turnover and the changing economic and social structures of the

neighbourhood appeared to translate into a desire for a 'lost community' (ibid.). This desire reflects, at least partly, the considerable investments that older people have made in their neighbourhoods, and a sense of disillusion that the changes affecting their neighbourhoods are beyond their control (Thomése et al., 2018). Discontinuities of place can, thus, challenge older people's sense of belonging and social relationships, thereby increasing the likelihood of social exclusion (Lager et al., 2013) (see also Blokland, 2003).

Yet, it is important to note that older people are not passive, dependent recipients of a physical space (that is no longer catered to their needs). Rather, they play a highly active role in trying to counter social exclusion, and other negative consequences of global change. Lager and colleagues (2013) have studied the impact of neighbourhood transitions on older people's sense of belonging in a former working-class neighbourhood in Groningen, the Netherlands. They found that the older residents negotiated "a sense of belonging [...] in relation to everyday places and interactions within the neighbourhood" (ibid., p. 54). Despite the urban renewal taking place in the neighbourhood, they created a sense of continuity by transferring specific routines and behaviours (typical of their working-class identity) to the present. The value of these repetitive behaviours, or time-space routines (in old age), is further explored in section *two* of this theoretical chapter.

## 2.2 Time-space routines in old age

Geography research has paid only little attention to the 'temporal dimensions' of socio-spatial phenomena (Lager et al., 2016). However, Mei-Po Kwan (2013, p. 1078) contends that more "temporally integrated geographies" could give new insights into old issues that have been examined by geographers for decades (for instance, ethnic segregation, environmental exposure, and accessibility). In a similar fashion, Tim Schwanen and colleagues (2012) argue for systematically including 'time' to enhance our understandings of older people's engagement with place. This chapter draws attention to the temporal dimensions of ageing, within the context of the urban neighbourhood. First, I give a short review of how 'time' has been used in geography research. Thereafter, I discuss the 'rhythms of later life,' which are "out of synchrony in time and space" with those of younger residents (Lager et al., 2016, p. 11). Lastly, I explore the value of light-touch sociality in old age, on the basis of David Seamon's (1979, 1980) notion of 'place ballet.'

#### 2.2.1 Time in geography research

In geography research, 'time' has been regarded an important component of older people's attachment to place. The argument here is that older people develop affective and experiential connections with their respective neighbourhoods over time (through the length of residence in the neighbourhood) (Golant, 2003; Cutchin, 2001). In this field, Graham D. Rowles' research (1978, 1983) has been highly influential. Rowles developed the notion of physical, social, and autobiographical "insideness" (1983, p. 299). This insideness (or sense of familiarity) establishes itself over time through spatial routines and habits, and through the accumulation of memorable events. Rowles argues that the remembrance of these events and one's life in the neighbourhood invokes a sense of belonging and continuity, even in times of major change. Jointly with John F. Watkins, he developed the "experience-based life course model of being in place," which affirms that the accumulation of experiences over the life course results in the older person becoming attuned to his/her environment (2003, p. 77). Rowles and Watkins assert that environmental changes (for instance, a move to a care home for instance) can disrupt a person's insideness. Regaining congruence with place requires a 'remaking of place,' by transferring one's insideness into the new or changed place (ibid.). An example may be the transfer of personal belongings to the new home. Indeed, as Malcolm P. Cutchin (2001) emphasises, people's interactions with places are in constant flux, and require constant negotiation to establish and maintain a sense of continuity and belonging (see also Wiles & Allen, 2010; Wiles et al., 2009). Hence, the relationship between the older person and place is not understood as "merely contextual snapshots or temporally static episodes" but as "frames of an ongoing environmental movie" (Golant, 2003, p. 639).

As indicated before, this strand of research has gained considerable popularity as a result of the AIP policies of many Western governments. Gavin J. Andrews and colleagues (2007, p. 157) suggest that place attachment and AIP are "closely related, even overlapping concepts which have a strong development in policy and in the literature." Recently, however, several authors have advocated moving beyond this 'traditional' perspective, and have drawn attention to other dimensions of time (Andrews, Evans, & Wiles, 2013; Schwanen, Hardill, & Lucas, 2012; Skinner, Cloutier, & Andrews, 2015). For instance, Lager and colleagues (2016), who draw on the work of Henri Lefebvre (2004), argue that an analysis of 'rhythms' offers a better, and more comprehensive, understanding of older people's attachment to place. In *Rhythmanalysis* (2004), Lefebvre highlights the multiplicity and intersection of rhythms (social, non-human, corporeal, mobile, and institutionally inscribed) that form the polyrhythmic

ensembles of spaces and places. Rhythmanalysis stresses the entwinement and dynamism of time and space: "everywhere where there is interaction between a place, a time and an expenditure of energy, there is rhythm" (Lefebvre, 2004, p. 15).

These 'time spaces' are practiced, over and over again (May & Thrift, 2001; Crang, 2001). In the words of Tom Mels (2004, p. 3), "human beings have always been rhythm-makers as much as place-makers." This means that places are not static pre-existing entities; they are constantly (re)made via the intersection of multiple, and at times conflicting, rhythms (Edensor, 2010). Neighbourhoods consist of "multiple routines and rhythms that may form a compatible or clashing whole, as the different, remediating, tempos, timings and durations come together" (Crang, 2001, p. 2419). Hence, a neighbourhood can be a 'compatible whole,' in which the rhythms are aligned, or a 'clashing whole,' in which the rhythms are in discord. Lefebvre (2004, p. 67) refers to these forms as "eurhythmia" (rhythms being aligned with each other) and "arrhythmia" (when rhythms "break apart, alter and bypass *synchronisation*"). In everyday life, activities usually involve eurhythmic ordering; they are carried out in a habitual and routine manner in familiar places of work, shopping, commuting, leisure, and so on. The everyday relies, thus, on a "synchronisation of practices," which adheres to people's preference for "predictability and security" (Edensor, 2010, p. 8).

However, it is exactly this 'ordinariness' of the everyday, that makes it challenging for rhythmanalysists to reveal the mechanism *behind* a rhythmic ordering. To understand the rhythmic ordering of a place, the analysist needs to ask whether there is "a determining rhythm? A primordial and coordinating aspect?" (Lefebvre, 2004, p. 33). According to Lefebvre, it is above all the timing of 'work' that determines the everyday. Subordinating to the organisation of work creates (hourly, daily) demands, that coordinate other aspects of the everyday: "the hours of sleep and waking, meal-times and the hours of private life" (ibid., p. 73). Ultimately, this results in the repetitive organisation of daily routine. Tim Edensor (2006) adds to this, by asserting that everyday rhythms are, to a great extent, managed by the state, from daily rhythms to life-course rhythms. To a degree, these rhythms set 'the pace' for urban life, and are referred to by Don Parkes and Nigel Thrift (1979, p. 353) as "pacemakers." It is, however, important to note that these rhythmic orderings may differ between individuals and social groups. As Lefebvre (2004, p. 73) puts forward: "we can describe daytime and the uses of time in accordance with social categories, sex and age."

Rhythmic everyday orderings "reinforce normative ways of understanding and experiencing the world" (Edensor & Holloway, 2008, p. 484). In his study of everyday cycling practices in London, Justin Spinney (2010, p. 116) discovered that the rhythms of cyclists were

not "deemed equally desirable" as the rhythms of motorised vehicles, because the city's roads were designed for the latter. This example emphasises the relational character of rhythms, where rhythms acquire a 'quality' in relation to other rhythms. Indeed, Lefebvre (2004, p. 10) argues that "we know that a rhythm is slow or lively only in relation to other rhythms (often our own: those of our walking, our breathing, our heart)" (see also May & Thrift, 2001). This relationality has gained currency in recent years, as scholars became aware that mobility practices are in fact ingrained with moments of stillness and waiting (Cresswell, 2012). In an era "that privileges the mobilisation of mobility" (Bissell & Fuller, 2011, p. 3), these still moments are seen as an abnormality, and hold negative connotations. In addition, since rhythms vary between individuals and groups, people also have different 'senses of time,' depending on where they are, and what their social position is (May & Thrift, 2001). Here, Tim Cresswell (2010) raises the example of air travel, which shows how mobility, and the relative speed of the passing of time, can be experienced in completely different ways, depending on which class (and the accompanying level of comfort) a person is able to afford.

#### 2.2.2 The rhythms of later life

The discussion outlined above shows that everyday places are imbued with 'a multiplicity of rhythms.' The orderings behind these rhythms can, however, vary from one person to another. This section focuses on the 'rhythms of *later life*.' First of all, as the study of Lager and colleagues (2016) indicates, daily rhythms slow down significantly in old age. The process of ageing brings along bodily changes, and will affect people's energy levels. For many seniors, this will result in a rhythm that includes daytime sleep (Venn & Arber, 2011). Furthermore, older people have to take in their medicines at fixed timeframes, and often at regular intervals, which structures their day and fixes their mealtimes. These medicine intake commitments can constrain the older person to the home (Lager et al., 2016). In addition to these new acquired rhythms of medicine intake and rest, it is likely that the general pace of doing things will slow down in later life (Schwanen & Kwan, 2012; Stjernborg et al., 2014), due to decreasing energy levels and/or mobility problems. The decelerated rhythms of later life affect the time available in a day to go 'outdoors,' and consequently, older people can experience a shrinking life world (Lager et al., 2016).

Another important aspect of these slower rhythms, is the increased 'waiting' in old age (Droogleever Fortuijn et al., 2006). According to Lager and colleagues (2016, p. 9), waiting is "an intrinsic and inevitable part of old age," and evokes a sense of dependence. They give the

example of the winter weather, and argue that the appearance of snow and ice 'forces' older people to stay indoors, since they are afraid of falling. Regularly, a state's snow removal and ice prevention policies give priority to the passageways of cars and bicycles, and are not responsible for the neighbourhoods' streets and pavements. These policies mitigate the weather's impact on the working population, and secure the 'eurhythmia' for this group. However, they leave the seniors 'waiting' to be able to go outdoors again, and dependent on the willingness of others to make the pavements accessible to them (Lager et al., 2016; Wennberg, Stahl, & Hydén, 2009).

Subsequently, a stark contrast emerges between the rhythms of later life and the much busier rhythms of younger, and working, people. Lager and colleagues (2016, p. 11) argue that the rhythms of older and younger residents are "out of synchrony in time and space," which can result in a "generational divide within the neighbourhood." Generally, it is the time of work that determines, and acts as a 'pacemaker' of, everyday urban life (see Parkes & Thrift, 1979). But most older people do no longer have the bodily capacities and/or energy to keep up with this pace. Older people spent most of their time at home or in the neighbourhood, and only go out during the day, when the younger residents would be at places of work and/or study. This difference in time geographies accentuates older people's stasis in the neighbourhood and, consequently, their 'slowness,' 'immobility,' and 'oldness.' This can evoke a sense of 'otherness' within the neighbourhood, and creates a milieu in which older people "feel 'out of sync' and out of place" (Lager et al., 2016, p. 13).

It seems, the temporal orderings of younger people's lives (and older people's younger selves) are viewed as the preferred rhythm. Older people, therefore, actively seek ways to structure their "post-(re)productive free time" (Bildtgard & Oberg, 2015, p. 1), to make life more eventful (Marhánková, 2011). This requires a process of 'anchoring' or 'punctuating' time, by adding daily and weekly reoccurring activities, or "rites and ritualisations" (Lefebvre, 2004, p. 94), to everyday time, such as walking, grocery shopping, cleaning, and club activities. Indeed, the French philosopher Jean-Marie Guyau (1988, p. 137) argued that older people lack the new, intense, and vivid experiences of children and youth, making "the weeks resemble each other, the months resemble each other, that constitute the monotonous rut of life." In this regard, old age, at times, can lead to "a nullity of action, place, and time" (ibid., p. 137). According to Lager and colleagues (2016), older people are wary of this nullity, which explains their concern with filling time with activities, and their active attempts to keep busy (see also Lee, 2014). Keeping busy seems to be linked to the norm of 'active ageing' (Katz, 2000; Marhánková, 2011), which "implicitly contains reference to the young, able-bodied and

working population – with a higher tempo of life, being constantly on the move, and busy in their careers and family lives" (Lager et al., 2016, p. 12). It seems, older people have internalised the (society's) ideal of 'activity' in old age, and are actively trying to punctuate or anchor everyday time, in order to counteract the negative connotations ascribed to the slower, non-productive rhythms of their older bodies.

#### 2.2.3 Older people in place ballet

"Timing and synchronisation are integral aspects of interactions" (Adam, 2000, p. 136). Given the 'generational divide' within the neighbourhood, the opportunities for older people to acquire 'social capital' are fairly limited (Lager et al., 2015, 2016). However, obtaining social capital is not only grounded on actual communication. It also comes into existence via simple visual encounters with neighbours, even from behind a window. Although the rhythms of older and younger people are 'out of sync,' walking the neighbourhood can still allow older people positive moments of contact (van Eck & Pijpers, 2017). To understand the value of these visual encounters in older people's lives, Dirk van Eck and Roos Pijpers (2017) adopted a phenomenological perspective instead of a sociological one. The sociological perspective considers superficial everyday contact between neighbours merely as 'signs of coexistence.' Yet, from a phenomenological viewpoint, these seemingly insignificant encounters have, in fact, an effect on people's life and *are* meaningful to those involved (ibid.). The phenomenological perspective is, thus, more open to the positive effects that encounters (even from a distance) can have on older people's lives.

These encounters become particularly meaningful when they appear in 'place ballet' (Lefebvre & Régulier, 2004). The notion of 'place ballet' refers to recurring everyday encounters that create "a strong, even profound, sense of place" (Seamon, 1979, p. 56). 'Place ballets' are, thus, constituted by people's time-space routines, and present opportunities for meaningful encounter (see also Jacobs, 1961). According to van Eck and Pijpers (2017), they offer people a sense of home in neighbourhood spaces that (at first sight) appear to be bursting with strangers. However, this routine use of space can also restrict people. Once a routine is attained, a person "is closely held to it, and by its own initiative is limited in the creation of new routines" (Seamon, 1979, p. 49). People are, indeed, conservative in nature, and stick to their patterns of the past, even if the rationale behind them is long gone. In fact, time-space routines are performed rather unconsciously, and "the mental judgement of the need to continue a particular practice is subdued" (van Eck & Pijpers, 2017, p. 172).

Older people's highly systematic routines make them encounter the same others; at the same times; at the same places. However, in addition to continuity, a shared 'sense of place' is needed for an encounter to become a 'place ballet.' For David Seamon (1979, p. 59) 'place ballet' is "a situation in which a place is experienced without deliberate and self-conscious reflection yet is full of significances; people know the place and its people, and are known and accepted there." When this is the case, encounters can create an atmosphere of fellowship, or conviviality (Laurier & Philo, 2006). According to van Eck and Pijpers (2017), encounters in 'place ballet' offer a sense of familiarity and comfort that its participants, in this case the seniors, grow quite attached to. Claiming that 'place ballets' offer older people a coping strategy for their everyday frustrations with growing 'old' may be a bridge to far. Yet, the 'light-touch' sociality of 'place ballets,' for example in parks, market places or cafés, does offer older people brief moments of enjoyment and kindness (ibid.) (see also Laurier & Philo, 2006; Watson, 2009). Interestingly, it is only when the familiar elements or actors are found missing, that the significance of 'place ballet' becomes crystal clear. Occurrences of 'breakdown' bring about a sudden awareness of one's emotional attachment to a particular place, and to fellow regular visitors (Seamon, 1979).

Thus, spaces and places are imbued with rhythm. If researchers want to understand older people's engagement with place, an analysis of rhythms seems vital. This section discussed the restricting and a-synchronising qualities as well as the liberating and communicative qualities of the 'rhythms of later life.' Albeit positive or negative, the discussion outlined above draws, almost exclusively, attention to the time-space routines in the neighbourhood. But how do the routines in the neighbourhood relate to those within the home? The next section delves deeper into the meanings of the spatiality of *home* in (older) people's lives.

## 2.3 The home: beyond house and haven

In geographic literature, it has been well established that the spatiality of home is one of the fundamental places that gives shape and meaning to people's everyday lives (Hall et al., 2010), but it does so in very complicated, and often contrasting, ways. For Alison Blunt and Ann Varley (2004, p. 3), the home is a space of both "belonging and alienation, intimacy and violence, desire and fear. [It is] invested with meanings, emotions, experiences, and relationships that lie at the heart of human life." The home has become an important site for scientific research, and not only in geography, across all the humanities and social sciences

(ibid.). Yet, as argued before, the growing, diverse, and interdisciplinary study on AIP has failed to acknowledge the importance of the spatiality of home. By contrast, this section focuses solely on the home, and its potential meaning in older people's lives. First, I give a short, historical review of the geographic literature on home. Thereafter, I explore the meanings assigned to the home by persons with mobility impairments. Lastly, I discuss the home as an important site of care for older people as they age.

#### 2.3.1 Geographic histories of home

Throughout the twentieth century, the home was cast as a 'protected place;' a uniform space of safety, familiarity, and nurture (Tuan, 2004). Nowadays, it is recognised as a far more problematic entity (Brickell, 2012). In the 1970s and 1980s, humanistic geographers defined the home as a site of authenticity and experience, that provided a sense of place and belonging in an increasingly alienating world (Manzo, 2003). Essentially, the spatiality of home was counterpoised to places of work. *Home* was a place of retreat, social stability, and domestic bliss, far away from the troubles of public life; a place where the individual could control decisions about who to admit or to exclude (Rakoff, 1977; Saunders, 1990; Tuan, 2004). Unmistakeably, there was a clear-cut line between the inside and the outside (of a house); separating private from public spheres (Blunt & Varley, 2004). Maria Kaika argues that the home became constructed as:

the epitome, the spatial inscription of the idea of individual freedom, a place liberated from fear and anxiety, a place supposedly untouched by social, political, and natural processes, a place enjoying an autonomous and independent existence: a *home*. (Kaika, 2004, p. 266)

Academic work in this era appeared to "exaggerate the emotional nobility of the home" (Ehrenreich & English, 1978, p. 10). The home became *the* metaphor for experiences of joy and protection. Ultimately, this led to the production of a normative association between home and positivity (Guiliani & Feldman, 1993; Moore, 2000; Short, 2006).

This 'house as haven' thesis was criticised in the 1990s (Brickell, 2012). David Sibley (1995, p. 93), for instance, deplored the "benign" approach of many studies on domestic environments, because the world is actually full of tension and conflict. An interdisciplinary

call for a more "gloomier tale" came up, to counteract the existing 'upbeat' literature on home (Porteous, 1995, p. 152). Indeed, multiple case studies displayed inconsistencies between the ideals and the lived realities of home (a key example is the edited collection *Ideal Homes?* by Chapman and Jenny Hockey from 1999). Gradually, the optimistic understandings of home and domesticity started to lose their credibility. This was particularly evident in feminist analysis (Brickell, 2012). A range of feminist writers (Badgett & Folbre, 1999; Olwig, 1998; Young, 1997) tried to deconstruct ideal images of home by showing that for some women, the domestic was a potential source of repression – a site of struggle and conflict. In this regard, home is "less of a castle, and more of cage" (Goldsack, 1999, p. 121).

These studies show that the meaning of home is not fixed, but unstable and transitory (Hall et al., 2010). For this reason, the concept of home was reconceptualised as a "continuous process of negotiations, contracts, renegotiations, and exchanges" (Brickell, 2012, p. 226). In a similar fashion, anthropologist Daniel Miller (2001, p. 4) defined the domestic as "a turbulent sea of constant negotiation rather than simply some haven for the self." Henceforth, more and more authors began to characterise the home by its contrasting connotations (Blunt, 2005; Blunt & Dowling, 2006; Blunt & Varley, 2004; Domosh, 1998; Duncan & Lambert, 2004; Varley, 2008; Young, 1997). For instance, Nicole Schröder (2006) views the home as a site of ambiguity, because the home's protective functions are always interconnected with its limiting ones. She argues that: "feelings of solidarity, safety, and protection are often achieved by severe acts of exclusion and regulation" (ibid., p. 33). These mixed feelings are, according to Lynne Manzo (2003), vital in trying to understand *home*.

In this regard, academic writings on AIP produce a rather one-sided view of the spatiality of home. They focus, almost exclusively, on the ways in which the home disappoints, aggravates, neglects and confines, whereas the neighbourhood is presented as a liberating and socialising space. It seems, this one-dimensional understanding of home needs to complicated by more positive and ambivalent feelings to home (Brickell, 2012). At this moment, AIP still tends to portray a too negative image of private space, and a too positive (or idealised) image of public space – by not taking into account the home's inspiring and comforting qualities. Analyses of home should always be ambiguous and contradictory, and focus on the home's hitches just as much as its pluses (Brickell, 2012; Moore, 2000). Indeed, for geographers, the home space is a "rich territory" (Cloutier et al., p. 766); it is a complex and multi-layered context that evokes both positive and negative memories, experiences, values, and preferences (ibid.) (see also Brickell, 2012; Milligan, 2003).

To emphasise the home's 'richness,' geographers Alison Blunt and Robyn Dowling proposed the term 'critical geographies of home,' in their book *Home* (2006). They argue that a critical geography of home comprises three (cross-cutting) components: "home as simultaneously material and imaginative; the nexus between home, power and identity; and home as multi-scalar" (ibid., p. 22). The first component – the 'material and imaginative' – reminds us that the home is not only a physical location in which people reside, but that it is an imaginative and metaphorical space of emotion and belonging (see also Ali-Ali & Koser, 2002; Rapport & Dawson, 1998). The second component – 'home, power and identity' – emphasises that the domestic, as a locus of personality, belonging and meaning, is experienced in different ways according to age, gender, sexuality, ethnicity, and class. Finally, the third component -'multi-scalar' – concerns the porosity of the home, "as the personal relations it plays host to transect public and political worlds" (Brickell, 2012, p. 226). The identity of home derives, thus, from its 'openness.' Home is "constructed out of movement, communication, social relations which always stretched beyond it" (Massey, 1992, p. 14). In brief, critical geographies of home are situated within a range of complex meanings, emotions, experiences, and relationships. They are important in both material and symbolic terms, and on scales ranging from the domestic to the global (Blunt & Dowling, 2006). Simply put, critical geographies of home move beyond *house* and *haven*.

#### 2.3.2 Disability and home

The home's ambiguity becomes crystal clear when we consider the notion of disability. Rob Imrie (2010) contends that a person's mental and physical wellbeing is, to a great extent, related to the quality of the home environment, and that an important part of this quality is physical design and layout. For Imrie, a high quality design enables the ease of people's movement around the house and the use of facilities (ibid.). Physical design is, however, often ill-suited to the needs of disabled people. According to Malcolm Harrison and Cathy Davis (2000, p. 115), poor design prevents self-management of impairments "and may exacerbate a condition." Moreover, Christine Oldman and Bryony Beresford (2000, p. 439) found that for children with limited mobility the home often lacks 'spontaneity,' because they "rely on an adults to move them around." In these instances, the home is far from 'a haven.' The studies of Harrison and Davis (2000) and Oldman and Beresford (2000) indicate that disabled people's domestic experiences are, potentially, at odds with the 'ideal' conception of home as a space of privacy,

security, independence, and control. In part, this is because the home (and its physical design) still revolves around positively perceived values, such as companionship and freedom, and denies other aspects of domestic life, such as disease, impairment, and dying (Hockey, 1999). Imrie (2010) reasons that this reflects a broader problem with debates about the meaning of home, in which the impaired body is rarely a subject of comment and analysis.

Of course, some aspects of home *are* able to provide a sense privacy, security, and control, but these provisions are always conditional and contingent (Imrie, 2010). They are in flux, and likely to be challenged by "the onset and development of bodily impairment" (ibid., p. 40). In fact, impairment is a significant, and intrinsic, condition of human existence (see Bickenbach, 1993; Marks, 1999; Zola, 1989). It can affect anyone, at any time. In this regard, people's experiences of home can never be detached from their corporeality; the organic matter and material of the body. Nevertheless, literature on the meaning of home fails to acknowledge the impaired body and its interactions with the spatiality of home (Imrie, 2010). Physical housing designs rarely include the accurate fixtures, fittings, or spaces to enable the ease of movement and the use of facilities by disabled people (ibid.). According to Imrie (2010), these design are potentially 'disembodying,' because they deny the presence or possibility of bodily impairment. Consequently, they are likely to reduce the quality of 'home life' for many people with a disability (ibid.).

However, it is important to note that disability is neither fixed nor static. Research on disability tends to conceive disabled people as 'victims' of circumstances that are beyond their control. The impaired body is treated as a 'physiological dope,' without agency or the capacity to ameliorate or circumvent the 'given' conditions of existence (Allen, 2000). Imrie (2010) suggests, however, that disabled people are far from passive victims of insensitive design. Imrie's study illustrates that disabled people have "the capacity to generate usable spaces out of the social and physical impediments that are placed in their way" (ibid., p. 35) (see also Allen, Milner, & Price, 2002; Hawkesworth, 2001; Heywood, Oldman, & Means, 2002; Oldman & Beresford, 2000; Percival, 2002). For instance, Allen and colleagues (2002) found that parents of visually impaired children do not see their children as victims of the home's built environment, because most of these children are able to construct 'memory maps' or guides of their home, that permit them to navigate, with relative ease, from one space to another.

In reality, many disabled people are trying to adapt and/or reorganise the physical layout of their homes, in order to regain control over their own environment (Ridgway et al., 1994). They take out doors, install ramps, remove carpets, get rid of 'big' furniture, and put up grab rails to facilitate ease of movement and use of rooms (Imrie, 2010). People with (mobility)

impairments are constantly solving and resolving issues related to functioning in restrictive spaces (ibid.). Daily, the home is altered and renewed to serve the disabled body as best as possible. However, rearranging the physical layout of the home is not *only* a means to exercise control over, and reclaim, personal space. Research suggests that these energy saving strategies become part of people's daily routine (Oldman & Beresford, 2000; Percival, 2002; Rubinstein, 1989). Hence, disabled people's 'home lives' revolve around preserving their bodily energy and organising tasks in ways that enable them to 'get through the day.'

#### 2.3.3 Home as a site of care

Several authors maintain that the home is the ultimate space in which to provide care for older people, because it is seen as a setting that is both familiar and imbued with meaning (see Milligan, 2009). The assumption is that the ongoing, and temporal, process of inhabiting a familiar place results in the development of a unique sense of attachment that is both supportive and adaptive (ibid.), and this would enable the older person to stay as independent as possible, for as long as possible. Undeniably, the presence of private possessions and familiar objects within the home reinforces our sense of self, and bestows the home with personal meaning (Rubinstein, 1989), and because of this, older people are more likely to feel safe, secure, and in control. According to Janine L. Wiles and colleagues (2009, p. 665), this "helps adjustment to the contingencies of ageing and enhancing well-being." Familiarity with the organisation of the home can, thus, uphold older people's sense of self and safety, even if their health declines. In a similar fashion, Rowles (1993, p. 66) has argued that familiarity of home facilitates a "preconscious sense of setting." He proposed that, over time, we develop routines inside the home. These routines would enhance our ability to instinctively negotiate spaces within the home without coming to any harm. Indeed, individuals are less likely to trip or knock over an object, when it is placed in the same, familiar location, for a long time.

However, as stated before, routines can also restrict people (Seamon, 1979). Once a routine is acquired, a person "is closely held to it, and by its own initiative is limited in the creation of new ones" (ibid., p. 49). The 'preconscious sense of setting' can enable individuals to transcend new physiological and sensory limitations. Nevertheless, because human beings are conservative in nature, it can also make them more vulnerable to changes in the physical environment (Milligan, 2009). When homes become places of care, they often need to be reorganised, as care professional still need workspaces that are clean, hygienic, and efficient

for the purpose of delivering safe, high-quality care (Dyck et al., 2005). This re-ordering of the home into a space of care frequently requires a physical modification of the home's infrastructure to support access (Milligan, 2009) (for example, through the installation of ramps, grab rails, or stair lifts). However, these installed adaptations, and the moving of small items of furniture (such as a chair or a side table) to different locations, *can* contribute to a fall (ibid.). In this regard, the rearranging of the home (to accommodate care-giving) is likely to decrease the 'preconscious sense of setting,' and increase vulnerability (ibid.). This may be especially true for those experiencing sight impairment or short-term memory loss.

However, the relocation of care (from institutional to domestic settings), does not only bring changes to the 'physical/material home' (Blunt & Dowling, 2006). It also brings the 'symbolic home' into tension, as an imaginative space of personal meaning, emotion, and belonging (ibid.). In the receipt of home care, many actors interact across the spatiality of home (Cloutier et al., 2015). Indeed, for many older people, the regular presence of, and social interaction with, formal care workers in their homes, is the new (daily) reality. When homes become places of (long-term) care, though, boundaries between public and private spaces become blurred (Dyck et al., 2005; Milligan, 2005; 2009; Twigg, 2000; Williams, 2002). For that reason, the older person's home has been defined as a "public-private space" or a "pseudoinstitution" (Cloutier et al., 2015, p. 769). In any case, the regular presence of care workers in the home brings the 'the private' into tension (Milligan, 2009). Older people, who receive (in)formal care at home, constantly have to (re)negotiate public and private space (ibid.).

The constant revisioning of the home's physical and symbolic meaning, brings into focus the complexity of the home space. In the AIP context, the home is both a site of care and one of social interaction and personal meaning (Milligan, 2009). Delivering care at home can fundamentally change the way older people 'connect' to their homes. Indeed, Christine Milligan (2005) recognises that emotion and personal identity are deeply embedded in ideas about home when she writes: "our sense of who and what we are is continually shaped and reshaped by how we feel *about* places and how we feel *in* places" (Milligan, 2005, p. 2105). This explains why healthcare providers, sometimes, encounter resistance from older people (and their families) in their attempts to reorganise the home (Phillipson, 2007). At times, older people prefer to improvise or subvert the healthcare and safety requirements, in order to retain a sense of home (Milligan, 2009). This friction between the aesthetics of care and the aesthetics of home, produces an ambiguity of place for both the care-giver and the care-recipient (Milligan, 2009), one that brings care *and* home (public and private) into tension. Michael Brown (2003) identified a 'spatial paradox.' Initially, older people prefer to receive care at home. However,

contrary to their expectations, many eventually adjust their preference, because the 'nature' of the home changes when levels of care needs intensify. In brief, older people prefer to be cared for at home, but after the inevitable changes, "is it still home?" (ibid., p. 841).

# 3 Methodology: case study

This thesis is based on case study research. The case study as a methodology is an increasingly popular approach among qualitative researchers (Thomas, 2011). It is a pragmatic and flexible research strategy that can fit a range of theoretical perspectives and methods (ibid.; Taylor, 2016). The case study as an explicit methodology has also become more prominent in geography research (Castree, 2005). However, according to Liz Taylor (2016), it must be selected for the right reasons and with careful consideration of issues such as bounding, generalisation, and objectivity. If so, case studies are able to generate in-depth interpretations of complex systems of meaning, positioned within their unique socio-cultural context – something a breadth study (such as a large-scale survey) cannot do (ibid.).

Firstly, this chapter describes my search for informants, which happened through the organisation *Sterker Sociaal Werk*. Thereafter, I explain the case study as a methodology and discuss its most important pitfalls. Lastly, I describe my visits to Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's homes (the main settings of data gathering).

## 3.1 Focus on two older people

This research describes the life stories and experiences of two older women, living in the city of Nijmegen, the Netherlands: Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. *Their* realities of daily life in the home and neighbourhood are the focus of the upcoming analytical chapter. As of recently, scholars of human geography (and other disciplines) have underscored the importance of understanding the experiences of older people from the perspective of older people themselves, "rather than being gleaned from proxy insights provided by care providers and family members" (Cloutier et al., 2015, p. 766) (see also Conradson, 2003; Milligan, 2003, 2005; Wiles, 2005, 2011). In fact, the way older people understand the meaning of (growing old in and around their own) home, is a rather underexplored topic (Wiles et al., 2012). This research offers, therefore, two detailed case study rapports, filled with the daily habits and routines of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot; two older women that are ageing in place.

But who is, in the context of this research, considered 'old'? In Dutch policy, the age at which people are labelled 'older' depends on the policy area. For instance, labour participation of older people concerns those aged 50-65 years, whereas in the care sector, older people are

those aged 75+ years (van Nimwegen & van Praag, 2012). The retirement age (in the Netherlands: 68+) is often embraced in research to define an older person, because from this age onwards people are likely to spend more time in the home and neighbourhood. This may especially be the case for men who used to be the breadwinner of the family (see Lager et al., 2013). However, in the context of this research, I choose to focus on the older 'older' people (80+) that still live in their own homes – that is, outside of institutional care. The reason for this is that the older people that 'just' retired are still very active and still have a vivid social network to fall back on. The older 'older' people are more likely to experience difficulties in the performance of their daily routines, due to their dwindling health and mobility, and the decline in their social network. In the process of this research, Mrs. Jacobs turned 91 years old and Mrs. de Groot celebrated her 88th birthday.

Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot were recruited through the voluntary organisation Sterker Sociaal Werk. As part of my internship at the municipality of Nijmegen, I signed up as a volunteer who visits older people (in Dutch: bezoekvrijwilliger). Sterker Sociaal Werk offers several voluntary services in Nijmegen for both the young and old, with the purpose of making them feel 'stronger.' For the elderly, these services involve, for instance, grocery shopping, filing paperwork, going on walks together, transportation services, preparing diner, and being a 'buddy' (in Dutch: gezelschapsmaatje) (Sterker Sociaal Werk, 2019). Older people enrol themselves, or are registered by a family member or care professional (a GP, an elderly advisor, or a visiting nurse). In conversation with the organisation's head of volunteering, we settled for two 'clients,' who are at least 80 years of age, are living on their own, and residing in their own homes. Eventually, I got 'matched' with Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. Both of them were on a waitlist for a visiting volunteer, which means they were looking for (or a family member or care professional thought they would benefit from) a companion. On ethical grounds, we agreed that Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot would be informed of my research intentions from the very start. During the first visits, I emphasised that, at all times, I would respect their privacy and protect their anonymity. Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot gave their approval almost right away, on the condition that I would not use their full names in the final report. Hence, the names Jacobs and de Groot (and all other names used in this thesis) are aliases. Additionally, we agreed that it was only fair to Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot, to volunteer for a minimum period of six months. From March till August 2018, I visited both women (almost) once a week. In total, I paid 22 visits to Mrs. Jacobs and 18 visits to Mrs. de Groot. Each visit lasted for about two hours. This corresponds to about 80 hours of extensive data gathering. This intensive contact, over an extensive period of time, made it possible to reconstruct a detailed, and indepth, case study report on (the AIP experience of) both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot, which forms the basis of this thesis.

## 3.2 Case study research

This thesis is based on case study research. As stated before, the case study is an increasingly popular approach among qualitative researchers (Thomas, 2011). This is perhaps because it provides a level of flexibility that is not readily offered by other qualitative approaches, such as grounded theory and phenomenology (Taylor, 2016). Yet, there is a wide diversity in themes and priorities in case study designs, which can make it difficult for researchers to define, and understand, the case study (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Gary Thomas (2011) argues that this is, to some extent, explainable by the diversity in epistemological starting points, from which practitioners and analysts (of different disciplines) arrive. This means that the case study as a methodology is not necessarily bound to a particular theoretical perspective or epistemological approach (see also Taylor, 2016). Indeed, the key writers on case study (particularly, Robert Yin, 2012, 2014; Michael Bassey, 1999; and Robert Stake, 1995) come from a range of research background and each has its own distinctive approaches and ways of constructing the case study (Taylor, 2016). Nerida Hyett and colleagues (2014) discuss two popular case study approaches in qualitative research. The first, suggested by Stake (1995) and Sharan Merriam (2009), is situated within a social constructivist/constructionist paradigm and the second, proposed by Yin (2012), Bent Flyvbjerg (2011), and Kathleen Eisenhardt (1989), arrives from a post-positivist viewpoint. Post-positivists believe that there is one reality, independent of our thinking, that science can study; while social constructivists hold that there are multiple, socially constructed, realities (we each construct our own). Scholars from both schools have contributed heavily to the popularity of case study and to the development of theoretical frameworks and principles that characterise the methodology (Hyett et al., 2014).

Despite the differences, commonalities exist. First of all, most scholars agree that case study is a form of naturalistic research. This means that the case is being studied in its 'normal' context, rather than in a laboratory or other artificial environment (Bassey, 1999). Thus, case study researchers are united in their commitment to studying the complexity of *real* situations. Helen Simons (2009, p. 443) defines the case study as follows: "Case study is an in-depth exploration from multiple perspectives of the complexity and uniqueness of a particular project, policy, institution, program or system in a *real-life context*" (italics added). Secondly, most case

study researchers adopt multiple data collection methods (Taylor, 2016). According to Stake (1995, p. xi-xii), case study research draws together "naturalistic, holistic, ethnographic, phenomenological, and biographic research methods" in a "palette of methods." Hence, the case study is not defined by the methods of data collection that it employs. Rather, "analytical eclecticism" is a defining feature (Thomas, 2011, p. 512). These multiple data collection methods are adopted to obtain a range of perspectives and insights into the case, in order to further develop and understand it (Taylor, 2016). Whatever the methods used, the most important aim is to strive for what Clifford Geertz (1983) calls 'thick description.' Explaining social phenomena through thick description means that the researcher not only describes human behaviour, but also provides the context in which this behaviour occurs. The case study should give readers "the vicarious experience of 'being there,' so that they can share in the interpretation of the case, adjudicating its worth alongside the researcher" (Cousin, 2005, p. 424) (see also Stake, 1995).

Thirdly, cases are set in spatial and temporal boundaries. As Stake (1995, p. 2) suggests: a case is "a specific, a complex, functioning thing," bounded within space and time. This boundedness is considered key in defining a case (Ragin, 1992). For Yin (2014), the temporal boundary of a case study is generally contemporary to the researcher, in contrast to historical research. In his view, historical documents can only provide context to the case study. To sum up, I turn to John Creswell's (2013, p. 97) definition of a case study: it "explores a real-life, contemporary bounded system (a case) or multiple bounded systems (cases) over time, through detailed, in-depth data collection involving multiple sources of information."

In the context of my research, the bounded systems are persons: Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. These cases were set in *place* (in the real-life context of their home and neighbourhood, Nijmegen-Oud-West and Hatert) and in *time* (a period of 6 months, from March until August 2018). By centring on two persons, this research provides an 'embodied' understanding of (the meaning of) home and its environment. Indeed, Rob Imrie (2010) argues that there is an urgent need to 'corporealise' the meaning of the home, because people's feelings and experiences of home can never be separated from their corporeality (the organic matter and material of the body). The spatiality of home is, thus, thoroughly embodied (ibid.). Even "the most basis places and spatial indicators are first of all qualified by the body" (Lefebvre, 1991, p. 174). Hence, if one seeks an extensive and nuanced understanding of the spatiality of home, it makes sense to focus on the person that inhabits it. Additionally, the process of ageing brings along bodily changes. As a result, the home can be experienced as 'disembodying,' because it may no longer be attentive to older people's bodily needs and functions (Imrie, 2010). Selecting

persons as cases is, however, not without its difficulties. William Goode and Paul Hart comment that a person is hard to bound: "it is not always easy for the case researcher to recognise where the [person] ends and the environment begins" (in Stake, 2003, p. 135). In a similar vein, Taylor (2016) maintains that establishing the boundaries of a person is quite the challenge, because of the complex web of relational links that people have with their living, and non-living, environment.

In the literature, there is much discussion about the choice for a single case or multiple cases (Taylor, 2016). If your main interest is in a wider issue, then more than one case, across different sites, is likely to give a richer insight (ibid.). However, there will inevitably be a *depth* versus *breadth* "trade-off" (Hammersley & Gomm, 2000, p. 2). This brings us to one of the main critiques on case study research: its potential lack of generalisability. Indeed, rather than looking at a few variables in a large number of cases, the case study researcher looks at the complex interaction of many factors in only a few cases (Ragin, 1992). The 'extensiveness' of the former is discarded for the 'intensiveness' of the latter (ibid.). Hence, there is a trade-off "between the strength of a rich, in-depth explanatory narrative emerging from a very restricted number of cases and the capacity for generalisation that a larger sample of a wider population can offer" (Thomas, 2011, p. 512). In case study research, the emphasis lies on the case itself, and not on variables (ibid.). With my choice for 'only' two cases, I weakened my capacity for generalisation. However, it *did* result in a more intense, in-depth, and rich data set; which I would not be able to recreate with a larger number of cases.

Another important characteristic of a case is its analytical frame. Thomas (2011) argues that a case can only be studied if it is a case of something ("of" constitutes the study's analytical frame). In fact, a case must comprise two elements. First, there is the "characteristic unit" that the researcher observes (Wieviorka, 1992, p. 160). Thomas (2011) calls this the *subject* of the study. Second, there is the "theoretical, scientific basis" of the case (Wieviorka, 1992, p. 160). This is the study's analytical or theoretical frame, and Thomas (2011) calls this the *object*. The subject has no meaning in itself. "It is significant only if an observer [...] can refer it to an analytical category or theory" (Wieviorka, 1992, p. 160). Hence, if we want to talk about a case, we need a means of interpretation; a context (ibid.). For additional clarification, Thomas (2011, p. 513) makes the distinction between the *explanandum* ("the thing to be explained") and the *explanans* ("the thing doing the explaining"). In the context of my research, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot (subjects) are case studies *of* ageing in place (object). The notion of ageing in place is the explanandum (the thing to be explained) and the 'things' doing the explaining – the explanantia – are Mrs. Jacobs and de Groot. A case study cannot be merely empirical

(Wieviorka, 1992). If the researcher only identifies a subject, he or she fails to explain anything, and provide only a simple description (Thomas, 2011). Hence, for a case study to constitute research, there has to be something to be explained (an object) and something potentially to offer explanation (a subject) (ibid.).

However, the question still stands whether the case study is able to offer information that can be useful beyond the individual case. In other words, can findings be generalised? Is a case representative of a wider population? Opinions on the case study's representativeness differ (see de Vaus, 2001; Flyvbjerg, 2006; Gomm, Hammersley & Foster, 2000; Yin, 2014). For instance, Stake (1995) was in favour of 'naturalistic generalisation,' Yvonna Lincoln and Egon Guba (1985) championed 'holographic generalisation' and Bassey (2001) propagates 'fuzzy generalisation.' Naturalistic generalisation invites readers to relate components of the case study to personal experiences. In Stake's (1995) view, naturalistic generalisations are conclusions arrived at by vicarious experience, whereby the reader feels as if it happened to them. They fall 'naturally' in line with readers' ordinary experiences. Lincoln and Guba (1985) draw on the metaphor of the hologram. A hologram is a three-dimensional image, which appearance varies depending on the perspective of the viewer. Lincoln and Guba invite the researcher to walk around the case and consider it from different angles (the back, front, and sides) to get to a 'full picture.' In Bassey's (2001) view, the most appropriate aim for case study research is to aspire to the making of 'fuzzy generalisations.' This notion is based on the scientific conception of the fuzzy principle, which asserts that everything is a matter of degree and nothing is certain. Hence, we can only aspire to predict probability in terms of 'may' rather than 'will' (see also Cousin, 2005).

However, according to Thomas (2011), the case study is in no sense representative (or 'typical') of a wider population. Namely, "it can never legitimately be claimed to form a representative sample from a larger set." (ibid., p. 514). Subsequently, it does not provide 'generalizable knowledge;' it gains 'exemplary knowledge.' This means that the case only has the ability to exemplify the analytical frame. In most instances, the subject is an interesting, unusual, or revealing example "through which the lineament of the object can be refracted" (ibid., p. 514). Henceforth, the aim of *this* case study research is to stretch, and complicate, current understandings of the notion of AIP. Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are revealing examples or "key cases" (ibid., p. 514), because they were on the *Sterker Sociaal Werk*'s waitlist for a reason. As stated before, the AIP approach has been framed to be in the best interest of older people. However, the fact that Mrs. Jacobs and de Groot were eyeing for a 'buddy,' undermines this somewhat optimistic understanding of AIP. Hence, the function (or ambition)

of case study research is not necessarily "to map and conquer the world, but to sophisticate the beholding of it" (Stake, 1995, p. 43).

Then, as a final point, does the case study involve too many subjective decisions, made by the researcher, to offer genuinely objective results? Some academics, particularly those from 'hard' science traditions, have difficulty seeing case study research as scientifically credible. Indeed, the case study falls within an interpretivist tradition, in which the subjective bias of the researcher is accepted as a given (Cousin, 2005). The researcher's personal traits and biased thoughts will always influence the scientific outcomes. Hence, case studies never grasp the whole truth; they are "inherently partial – committed and incomplete" (Clifford, 1986, p. 7). However, the possibility of neutrality in any academic discipline is increasingly understood as impossible (Cousin, 2005). It does not matter from which epistemological starting point the practitioner or analyst arrives; whether the research process can be characterised as an 'objective' investigation remains to be seen.

In addition, a social constructivist/constructionist approach to case study research supports a transactional method of inquiry (Hyett et al., 2014). Here, the researcher has a personal interaction with the case (ibid.). Indeed, during my research, I built personal relationships with Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. Subsequently, the cases are developed in close collaboration with the informants themselves. The social constructivist would argue that, in this way, the case is able to engage the reader, by inviting them to join in, in this interaction and in case discovery (Stake, 1995). This is at odds with the post-positivist approach to case study (Hyett et al., 2014). This viewpoint supports the development of clear case study protocols, with careful consideration of potential bias and validity (ibid.). Here, Yin (2012, 2014) advises to incorporate an exploratory or pilot phase, to ensure that all elements of the case are measured and adequately described. In this regard, my research seems to fall in the social constructivist paradigm. I visited Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot regularly, on fixed days, at fixed times. In any case, I became part of their weekly schedule, and was affective on (the way they performed) their routines. An additional factor was that I became an important source of social contact for Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. This made my research not only timeconsuming; it was emotionally demanding as well. However, at the time of writing this, six months have passed since my last visits to Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. This has given me ample time to process my emotional experiences with both and to enhance my objectivity. Although the social constructivist paradigm is not as theory oriented as some other epistemologies, I constantly tried to reflect (preliminary) results on the already existing body of literature – in order to reinforce the trustworthiness of my findings.

## 3.3 Visiting Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot

As mentioned before, I visited Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot on fixed days and fixed times. On Monday afternoons (from 2:00 until 4:00 p.m.), I was at Mrs. de Groot's house. In 25 minutes by bike, I arrived in the neighbourhood of Hatert. Hatert is part of the area Nijmegen-Zuid and located in the southern end of the city. Here, Mrs. de Groot lives in a one-family home, with neighbours on either side, and a rather spacious garden. The house is a bit big for Mrs. de Groot, who lives on her own. She mainly uses the downstairs; the living room, the kitchen, and her front and backyard. Upstairs, she only makes use of her bedroom and bathroom. The other rooms are closed and "a real mess." During my visits, we would sit in the living room, or (when the weather allowed it) in the backyard, under a shelter that provided shade. In both places, there were fixed seating arrangements. In the living room, Mrs. de Groot would sit on the couch and I would sit in the armchair diagonally across of her. In this chair, my back was turned to the window which provided a view on the street. On my first visit to Mrs. de Groot, I, unsuspectingly, choose to sit on the couch. However, when I arrived for the second time, Mrs. de Groot quickly nodded to the armchair. Clearly, I had blocked Mrs. de Groot usual spot on the sofa (and her view on the street), and was urged to sit somewhere else. In the backyard, Mrs. de Groot would sit in the chair closest to the house, with a small, round table right beside her. I would sit at the other end of this black metal table. In this arrangement, Mrs. de Groot was in the most sheltered spot and had the best view of the garden. During my visits, I was (almost) always offered two cups of coffee. In fact, the coffee machine was already heating up, before I entered the house. With the coffee, Mrs. de Groot would bring out a serving tray with sugar cubes and a little can of milk – although she eventually knew I take my coffee black. Additionally, she would bring out a chockful cookie jar and a glass bowl filled with all sorts of candy and chocolate. When I would not immediately take one (or multiple ones), she would say: "you are not dieting right, or are you?"

On Thursday afternoons (from 1:00 until 3:00 p.m.), I was at Mrs. Jacobs' house. In fifteen minutes by bike, I arrived in the neighbourhood of Nijmegen-Oud-West. Here, a block away from Nijmegen's central station, Mrs. Jacobs lives in a one-family house, with neighbours on either side. Mrs. Jacobs only uses the downstairs of her house. Despite the stair lift that has been installed, she is not able to go upstairs on her own. For that reason, Mrs. Jacobs only makes use of the living room (that also serves as her bedroom) and the kitchen. During my visits, we most often sat in the living room. I would sit down on (the right side of the sofa) or, when Mrs. Jacobs was not finished yet with her lunch, on one of the dining chairs. When the weather

allowed it, we would "go out." If so, I had to adjust the leg supports on Mrs. Jacobs' wheelchair, to support her feet. Plus, I always had to make sure that Mrs. Jacobs was dressed accordingly to the weather conditions (not too warm and, more importantly, not too cold). Mrs. Jacobs determined the routes of most of our walks, that would (almost) always lead us to, or along, shops. The shop we visited most often was the nearby supermarket *Jumbo*. On hot summer days, Mrs. Jacobs made me pick a route "in the shade." These routes would lead us to more wooded areas of Nijmegen-Oud-West and included breaks, because "with this hot weather" Mrs. Jacobs found it important that I took frequent breaks from pushing "the rather heavy wheelchair." We would 'end' our walks in Mrs. Jacobs' living room, with a cup of tea and "of course" a treat. "After such an effort, one deserves a treat!" Generally, this was a cookie or a pastry, that we just bought at *Jumbo*.

In general, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot led our conversations and determined the topics of our talks; dependant on what was on their mind that particular day. My role (as a researcher, but also as a volunteering 'buddy') was to provide a sympathetic ear and to ask considerate follow-up questions. From the very start, Mrs. Jacobs was very open. During our first meeting, she already told me about how difficult it is that she cannot go out on her own, and that she really looks forward to our walks. With Mrs. de Groot, however, it took a bit more time. Perhaps because my age and/or my research intentions, she was a little hesitant at first. Indeed, the last thing she wanted was to come across as "some sad lady." Eventually, after a few visits, she started to open up and felt more comfortable talking about the worries she has. Still, occasionally, she would ask me: "you didn't write anything weird about me, did you?" Clearly, Mrs. de Groot was slightly more concerned with the way she came across than Mrs. Jacobs. However, this case study research does not solely rest on (face-to-face) conversation. With Mrs. Jacobs, I also went on fourteen walks in the neighbourhood of Nijmegen-Oud-West, which can be labelled as walking interviews (see Lager et al., 2015). Additionally, I helped with household chores (for instance, hanging Mrs. de Groot's laundry and folding it, putting groceries away in Mrs. Jacobs' cupboards, and swiftly clean the wheels of Mrs. Jacobs' wheelchair). Hence, data was not only gathered in conversation, it also came into being while doing activities in and around Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's houses. Thus, like many other case study researchers, I adopted multiple data collection methods: informal conversation, small-talk, walking interview, and (participant) observation.

## 4 Analysis

In case study research, there are various options in data analysis, but according to Liz Taylor (2016, p. 590), it should always be "an iterative process balancing breadth and depth." In other words, there is a balance to be struck in the case study's analysis between considering data as a whole (or holistically) and focusing on particular parts in detail. Taylor (2016) contends that finding this balance between parts and whole is an iterative process. This means that the case study arrives at its conclusions by repeating rounds of analysis. With each repetition (or iteration), the researcher brings the desired result closer to discovery. In summation, the case study researcher is constantly considering what is common and what is particular about the case (see also Hyett et al., 2014).

This chapter considers the data holistically by making some general remarks on older people's experiences of AIP, and by (repeatedly) reflecting it on the already existing body of literature. Moreover, this chapter looks in detail at particular parts, by incorporating detailed illustrations and quotations from the interviews with Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot; with the general aim of providing a sense of 'character,' so that the reader might feel to get to know them. Firstly, this chapter introduces both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. Thereafter, I provide an analysis on Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's routines *inside* the home and *outside* the home (in the neighbourhood). Lastly, I discuss the routines that do not fit in any of these two categories, but confirm a blurring of the private-public (home-neighbourhood) divide.

## 4.1 Introducing Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot

### 4.1.1 Mrs. Jacobs

Mrs. Jacobs is 91 years old. She grew up in 's-Gravendeel, in de Hoeksche Waard, a village in the west of The Netherlands. Mrs. Jacobs talked with great enthusiasm about her childhood in 's-Gravendeel. She was the oldest of three sisters, and "certainly no sweetheart." With the sister closest to her, she got up to all sorts of mischief. The younger sister, on the contrary, was very well behaved and her "mother's darling." Mrs. Jacobs spoke warmly of both her parents and sisters, and liked to share short stories and anecdotes about her childhood. In the 1950s, she moved eastward, to the city of Nijmegen, because her husband wanted to work at the paper

factory of Gelderland. The couple moved in a one-family house, in the neighbourhood Nijmegen-Oud-West, where they raised their two sons. To be able to pay the mortgage, Mrs. Jacobs' husband "always worked hard" and often worked overtime. "At night, the phone was always close to the bed. When he got a call, he had to go to the factory again. That was not always fun, you know." At home, Mrs. Jacobs pulled the strings; managing both the house and the children. Although her husband was the breadwinner of the family, Mrs. Jacobs was in charge of the budgeting, and had a strong hand in deciding where money did (and did not) go. During one of my visits, Mrs. Jacobs admitted that, every now and then, she tricked her husband into thinking there was less money than there actually was. With a proud look, she detailed that, in this way, he would not go out drinking with his colleagues (and spend all their money), and she would be able to pay the bills. Mrs. Jacobs' preference for a strictly managed budget, seems to have been stirred by her mother. From early on, she learned the tricks of the budgeting trade from her mother, and realised that persons should always be cautious of their expenses. As a little girl, Mrs. Jacobs received a wallet with coins. She explained, proudly, that unlike her sisters who spent their money carelessly, she was careful and decided to save it up for "something bigger than a pair of panty hoses."

Mrs. Jacobs still lives in the same one-family house in Nijmegen-Oud-West. She admitted that she never really fell in love with the city of Nijmegen. On the contrary, at some moment in her life, she truly ached for a return to 's-Gravendeel. Hence, Mrs. Jacobs visited her parents and sisters regularly (when she still was able to). Nevertheless, after her husband died (about 30 years ago), she decided to stay in Nijmegen. She was doubtful for quite some time, but in the end, she chose to remain physically close to her two sons. Furthermore, Mrs. Jacobs seems very content with the street where she lives. "There are decent people here, you know;" who take care of their houses and front yards. "This is different in the Koninginnelaan. I hear only bad stories about that street. Honestly, I am very lucky here." On top of this, Mrs. Jacobs lives on a relatively busy street; bursting with motorists, cyclists, and pedestrians. She seems happy with all the hustle and bustle in front of her house. A year ago, Mrs. Jacobs spent eight weeks in a rehabilitation centre. "There you don't have such a nice view, you know. It was really boring! Luckily, I could return home after eight weeks." Yet, Mrs. Jacobs observed that there are more young families with (small) children living in the street than before. "During the day, they are at school or at work. Then it is quieter."

Mrs. Jacobs "always got on well with the neighbours." Her next-door neighbours (on both sides) are still the same two women as 50 years ago. Despite their old age, they try to visit each other on their birthdays every year. However, Mrs. Jacobs seems to have a closer bond

with the neighbour across the street, residing at number 23; clearly visible through the window. When he leaves his house or comes back home, "he always waves. Because he knows I'm here." The phone number of this neighbour is written down on Mrs. Jacobs phone. "I can always call him when something is wrong. That is nice." Sometimes he comes over to check up on Mrs. Jacobs. "When he cannot see me smile, he crosses the road, to check if everything is okay." Additionally, the 'home help' (Anita) comes over every Tuesday and Friday to clean the house and to go grocery shopping. Anita has worked for Mrs. Jacobs for over 20 years, and Mrs. Jacobs is very fond of her. On Tuesdays, when the weather allows it, she takes Mrs. Jacobs with her to the supermarket, or wheels Mrs. Jacobs into the garden to enjoy the sun. Recently, Anita also took on Mrs. Jacobs' administrative tasks. Mrs. Jacobs really appreciates Anita's and her neighbours' efforts, though "it is only for a short time. They always have to go." Every other week, Mrs. Jacobs calls her sister (or her "zussie"), who still lives in 's-Gravendeel. This is the sister closest to her; the younger sister died a few years ago. They can talk for hours, reminiscing about the past and sharing their worries about the present. During one of my visits, Mrs. Jacobs said jokingly: "it is because of her that my phone bill is so high!" However, "she seems confused lately. I keep on telling the same thing over and over again. And then she calls me crazy."

As stated before, Mrs. Jacobs has two sons: Frank and Robert. But her relationship with them is problematic. Mrs. Jacobs' husband was a technician and both her sons choose technical jobs. Mrs. Jacobs never had technical interests, and "often felt alone in her family of four." Today, she has almost no contact with her oldest son, Frank. "I cannot even remember, the last time he [Frank] was here. Apparently, he is very busy. [...] Sometimes, on the phone, he says 'I'll come visit.' But I still haven't seen him." The two brothers ran a company together, but this ended in a big fight. Since then, Mrs. Jacobs has lost touch with Frank. Meanwhile, Robert visits his mother almost every week, together with his two dogs. Mrs. Jacobs is not a big fan of her son's pets. "They [the dogs] are not good for me. But he [Robert] won't go anywhere without them." It turns out, Robert is definitely not an easy man. "He is my own son, but he really is a self-centred person. I always have to weigh my words. Otherwise, he'll get angry. In that respect, he's really like my husband." Although Mrs. Jacobs values her son's visits, she seems to lack a deep and close relationship with someone, to whom she can talk freely, about anything, without consequences and without an 'end time.'

Mrs. Jacobs has become physically very limited. A year ago, Mrs. Jacobs fell off her bed and, now, she is no longer able to walk independently. She ended up in a wheelchair. On top of this, her hands and arms are stiff and difficult to move; and she is hearing-impaired, for which she is wearing two hearing aids, one in each ear. Care professionals come four times a

day to help her get dressed, prepare her meals, hand over her medicines, and to put her to bed at night. It seems Mrs. Jacobs lost her independence almost completely. Nonetheless, Mrs. Jacobs tries to stay positive, because "whining won't help you." Once she joked: "I'm just glad I can go to the bathroom by myself." On a more serious note, she emphasised that "at least my brain is working the way it's supposed to." Of course, from time to time, Mrs. Jacobs admitted that it is difficult. Especially in bed at night, or in the morning, when she has trouble sleeping, the worries take over. She can spend hours in bed worrying. "I know I worry (*prakkezeer*) too much. Sometimes I just start counting the ceiling boards. My husband did exactly the same when he was ill. That always makes me think of him." Mrs. Jacobs finds it difficult that she cannot go out on her own. Apart from the supermarket trips with Anita, she spends most of her time at home. Mrs. Jacobs always liked going out "to the shops" and really misses it "to be among people." At home, she completes very light household chores and watches television. Yet, more often than not, Mrs. Jacobs is sitting in her wheelchair as close to the window – 'the action' – as she can get.

#### 4.1.2 Mrs. de Groot

Mrs. de Groot is 88 years old. She grew up in Nijmegen, in de St. Jacobslaan. Here, Mrs. de Groot's parents owned a farm and a transport business. Instead of studying, like her two older sisters and one brother did, Mrs. de Groot helped her parents on the farm. She did not mind this, though. Except from the horses, who frightened her a little, she enjoyed working the fields with her father. Every now and again, Mrs. de Groot talked about how drastically the city of Nijmegen has changed, ever since she was a little girl. "There used to be only farms, you know. You could see only grass-lands and trees. But now, they are building houses everywhere." One time, Mrs. de Groot and her sisters went back to the St. Jacobslaan, to the place where the farm used to be. Euphorically, she announced: "there was still a small piece of fence left! Of our farm." During the Nijmeegse Vierdaagse (the four days marches), Mrs. de Groot's parents always let the military stay in their home. "That was always fun. My mother would fill up a big barrel with hot water, and they [the soldiers] would put their feet in there. They were very thankful for that." Mrs. de Groot was quite the walker herself. She was a member of the local march association, and marched almost every Sunday. Though, she admitted that: "really, it was the only entertainment there was." Mrs. de Groot completed the Nijmeegse Vierdaagse four times in a row. When I asked her if she enjoyed this, she said: "Yes. Well, at least you had something to do." When Mrs. de Groot met her husband, she moved to his place of birth, Groesbeek. In the 1960s, the couple moved to a one-family house in the neighbourhood of Hatert, as their apartment in Groesbeek "was way too small to raise five children" (two daughters and three sons). Mrs. de Groot noted, with some pride, that they were one of the first inhabitants of 'the new' Hatert. The city of Nijmegen decided to reconstruct and to expand Hatert, to accommodate its growing population. In Hatert, Mrs. de Groot got a job as a cleaner, to support her family. "I often worked overtime, because I had *five* children to care for. And they weren't the most easy ones either."

Mrs. de Groot still lives in the same one-family house in Hatert. Instead of having to share it with six others, she now lives there alone. Multiple rooms in the house are empty. Yet, Mrs. de Groot does not feel the need to move. She ensures me that she is "not emotionally attached to the house." Though, she seems to be very fond of her gardens, both in front and behind the house. "In a care home, you don't have such a beautiful garden. I'd rather stay here." Mrs. de Groot thinks it is "really sad" that I do not even have a balcony. "Where do you leave your plants and flowers, then?" Although the neighbourhood Hatert is not what it used to be ("a lot of foreigners live here, you know"), Mrs. de Groot declared that she lives among well behaved and friendly people, apart from her next-door neighbour. "She [his wife] is very friendly, don't get me wrong. But he is a real bastard (*rotvent*). He cut my tree!" Without Mrs. de Groot's permission, the neighbour climbed over the wooden fence and gave the tree an uneven cut. "It looks really bad. I can't even look at it." Since the incident, Mrs. de Groot and her neighbour or not on speaking terms. With a mischievous smile, she said: "I just ignore him when he walks past." Nonetheless, Mrs. de Groot enjoys watching the people that walk by her house. "My sister lives in Mook. She has a big, beautiful garden, surrounded by forest. But I wouldn't want to live there. Here, at least people are walking by." Besides, "my sister doesn't have any house sparrows. I've got a lot of them!" Regularly, Mrs. de Groot recognises the person that walks past. Although she never met them in person, she can talk extensively about the behaviours they exhibit. However, "there aren't as many older people living here [in Hatert] as before. I am one of the few left. I think that's why it is less busy in the street these days."

Mrs. de Groot has regular contact with her two sisters. After an argument about the inheritance, she and her sisters lost touch with their brother. On Saturdays, one of her sisters accompanies her to the cemetery, where both their husbands are buried. Every other week on Sundays, they visit their other sister in Mook. Mrs. de Groot enjoys these trips. "Except when there is a Formula One race on. I couldn't care less about that." Mrs. de Groot and her husband raised five children. Her oldest daughter passed away from cancer. The other four children live

relatively close by. They all reach their mother within a fifteen-minute car ride. Jokingly, Mrs. de Groot noted: "they still know where to find me." However, Mrs. de Groot also worries about her children. Her oldest son (Edwin) has dementia, and "he is deteriorating rapidly." During the week, he lives in a care home. Mrs. de Groot feels uncomfortable with her son being institutionalised. "I wanted him to come live with me. I could care for him, just as I did with André [Mrs. de Groot's late husband]. But that's not possible anymore." Her other son (Rob) has diabetes and is mentally challenged. "He's always been a problem child (zorgenkind)," but nowadays Mrs. de Groot has no sight nor influence on Rob's actions. "He's too sweet, and other people can easily take advantage of this." Edwin and Rob visit Mrs. de Groot every Sunday. Although Mrs. de Groot enjoys seeing her sons, she is reluctant to go through all 'the hassle' ("het gedoe"). On the 8th of July, the whole family came over to Mrs. de Groot's house for a barbecue (a group of almost 20 people). Beforehand, Mrs. de Groot announced that, in all honesty, she is done "with all the hustle and bustle. I don't need that anymore." However, during my visit the day after, she admitted that she had "great fun" at the barbecue. "Everybody was there. And Robbie looked good! He really dressed up!" Mrs. de Groot's other two children (daughter Katrien and son Jan) are "well [healthy]." They take care of their mother and two brothers. The daughter calls almost every day, and keeps a close eye on what Mrs. de Groot does (or does not do). "Really, Katrien arranges everything for me. But she's very strict, you know. She always has something to say." Two neighbours, a married couple, also keep an eye on Mrs. de Groot. They visit Mrs. de Groot every other day, to do chores in (and around) the house and to drink a cup of coffee. "We want you [Mrs. de Groot] to stay with us a little while longer, Annie." Despite the involvement of her children and neighbours, "she [Katrien] thinks I'm alone too much. That's probably why you are here. But I'm perfectly fine on my own." During my first visit to Mrs. de Groot, she said: "Of course, you can come over if you'd like. But I'm not some sad lady, you know." Mrs. de Groot might come across as somewhat indifferent here, though when I announced on my 6th visit that I had to leave early, she responded: "Yes, no problem. I'm just glad you're coming at all."

Just as her son Rob, Mrs. de Groot has diabetes. However, now that she is older, the illness no longer has a major influence on her live. "I don't even have to take my medicines anymore." Mrs. de Groot has "just a few *minor* physical problems." She is hearing-impaired and owns two hearing aids (which she often forgets to wear); she has very dry eyes, which makes reading difficult; her left ankle is swollen, as a result of which she has little sensation in her heel and toes; and she gets tired a lot quicker than before. Despite all this, Mrs. de Groot likes to do things herself. However, she admitted that "sometimes, it's too much." With pride,

she told me that she scrubbed the tiles in the garden all by herself. "I've been doing well this morning. But I'm very tired now." It takes a day or longer for Mrs. de Groot to recover from heavy household chores like this. On June 25, Mrs. de Groot said that she visited the neighbours, at the other end of the street. "When I returned home, I was completely exhausted. And my legs where swollen." Mrs. de Groot owns a Zimmer frame, but she refuses to use it. "Katrien made me buy one, but I've put it in the shed." When I asked her why she does not use the rollator, she responded: "I don't need it, yet. When I *really* cannot do anything, I'll use it [...] maybe. Plus, it makes me feel old." It seems, Mrs. de Groot likes to exaggerate how well she is doing. Getting ill is simply no option for her. During my visit on June 11, Mrs. de Groot expressed concerns about her children and said: "You see. I cannot die yet. They [the children] still need me."

#### 4.2 Routines *inside* the home

In general, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot valued their home, and life inside it, in a positive manner. Both women have lived in their homes for quite some time (each for about 50 years), and raised their 2 and 5 children in it. Notwithstanding that multiple rooms in the house are now empty or not being used, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are not (yet) willing to move to a care home. Interestingly, this has nothing or very little to do with nostalgic feelings about the past and/or the family memories that they have accumulated there over the years. Rather, they seem to want to avoid any "hassle" (gedoe). After a period of 50 years, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot have become well 'attuned to' their homes, and have attained a fair amount of 'insideness' (Rowles, 1983; Rowles & Watkins, 2003). They know their home like the back of their hand, even the merest details. Familiarity with the home space makes live predictable, simple, and uncomplicated, and makes both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot feel they are able to control their personal space and daily routine. Both women are somewhat afraid that a move to a care home will disrupt this insideness, and will cause unnecessary 'hassle' and worry. However, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot have also mentioned negative facets of ageing inside the home, which are mostly related to their slower rhythms.

### 4.2.1 Good things come to those who wait

In accordance with the literature (see Lager, et al., 2016), Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's daily rhythms have slowed down significantly in old age. Undoubtedly, the process of ageing brings along bodily changes and affects people's energy levels (ibid.). Mrs. de Groot is confronted by this on a daily basis. Household chores require a lot more energy than before, and can really exhaust her. The same goes for reading. Mrs. de Groot can fall asleep quite easily when she reads or watches television. On multiple occasions, I arrived at Mrs. de Groot's house and saw her with closed eyes (on her usual spot on the sofa) with the newspaper in her lap; making me doubt whether or not to ring the doorbell. In the case of Mrs. Jacobs, it is mostly the reduced mobility that slows her down. In her wheelchair (and with her stiff hands) it is certainly not easy to navigate through the house, considering its narrow passages and doorsteps. Every time I arrived at Mrs. Jacobs' house, she immediately sprang into action. However, it took her a good five minutes to reach, and open, the front door. Back in the living room, she always needed a minute to catch her breath. This confirms that the general pace of doing things slows down in people's later life, due to decreasing energy levels and/or mobility problems (see also Schwanen & Kwan, 2012; Stjernborg et al., 2014).

An important aspect of these slower rhythms, is the increased 'waiting' in old age (Droogleever Foruijn et al., 2006). Lager and colleagues (2016, p. 9) propose that waiting is "an intrinsic and inevitable part of old age," and that it evokes a sense of dependence. The case of Mrs. Jacobs imparts new significance to this 'waiting' in old age. Four times a day, care professionals come to Mrs. Jacobs' house. It starts at 8:00 in the morning, when they get Mrs. Jacobs out of bed, wash her, dress her, and make her breakfast (two pieces of bread and a cup of coffee). Usually at 12:00 a.m. they come back to prepare Mrs. Jacobs' lunch (four pieces of bread and a glass of milk). Thereafter, at 17:00 in the afternoon, they warm up a ready-to-serve dinner in Mrs. Jacobs' microwave. Finally, at night (around 9:30 p.m.), they provide her with her last medications and help her into bed. Generally, Mrs. Jacobs speaks positively about the help she gets. "They all are very kind. And they like to come here as well." Nonetheless, Mrs. Jacobs has difficulties with her dependence. She never gets to decide when she eats, drinks, sleeps, or showers; she always has to wait for a care worker to assist her. Additionally, the times mentioned above (8:00 and 12:00 a.m. and 17:00 and 9:30 p.m.) are only indications. "They [the care workers] don't always come at the agreed times. Sometimes, when they have a busy schedule, they are over an hour late, or worse, too early!" Consequently, it is no longer the time of work that determines Mrs. Jacobs' daily life; it is the time of *care* that acts as a "pacemaker"

(Parkes & Thrift, 1979, p. 353) (see also Milligan, 2000). Mrs. Jacobs' mobility issues did not only slow her down, they made her dependent on the wilfulness of others. Henceforth, it is not Mrs. Jacobs herself, but the care professional that sets 'the pace' — with the inevitable consequence that Mrs. Jacobs spends many hours inside her home waiting.

### 4.2.2 Anchoring time and changing routines

Although Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's mobility practices inside the home are ingrained with moments of stillness and waiting (Cresswell, 2012), they should not be conceived as passive victims (Imrie, 2010). They both actively seek ways to structure their "post-(re)productive free time" (Bildtgard & Oberg, 2015, p. 1), to make life more 'eventful' (Marhánková, 2011). According to Lager and colleagues (2016), this entails a process of 'anchoring' time: adding daily and weekly reoccurring activities, or "rites and ritualisations" (Lefebvre, 2004, p. 94), to everyday time. Actually, Mrs. Jacobs often repeated her weekly schedule to me: "On Tuesdays and Fridays Anita [the home help] comes, to clean the house and to do the groceries. In the weekends, I call my sister. And on Thursdays, *you* are here." Mrs. Jacobs seems to prefer it that these 'anchors' are spread out through the week. Not only because multiple activities on one day would exhaust her; Mrs. Jacobs likes to have 'something to do' every single day, so "time passes more quickly." On days that Mrs. Jacobs has nothing special planned, which is usually on the weekends, "the day just never ends."

The literature suggests that 'keeping busy' is linked to the norm of 'active ageing' (Katz, 2000; Marhánková, 2011). In a sense, older people have internalised the society's ideal of 'activity' in old age, and through anchoring time, they try to counteract the negative connotations ascribed to their slower bodies (Lager et al., 2016). Indeed, multiple times, Mrs. de Groot assured me that she is "not some sad lady." Beaming with pride, she would tell me about the household chores she completed that week – all by herself. Grinning from ear to ear, she would show me the grease and dirt underneath her fingernails, the results of her gardening session that morning. Mrs. de Groot likes to clarify that she is neither "sad" nor "lazy," and that she is still able to make herself useful. It seems, older people are wary of 'nullity,' which explains their concern with filling time with activities, and their active attempts to keep busy (ibid.). However, the case of Mrs. Jacobs shows that it is not only 'nullity' that troubles an older person. For Mrs. Jacobs, the process of anchoring time is above all else, her way of making time go faster – to enable her to 'get through the day' (see also Imrie, 2010).

Thus, the older body still has agency. Older people still have the capacity to adapt their habitual routines, to circumvent "the social and physical impediment that are placed in their way" (Imrie, 2010, p. 35). Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot eagerly try to revise their use of the home, to save valuable energy and to retain control over personal space (ibid.). Apparently, a person's 'insideness' is never a given; it needs an 'up-date' every now and then. The home environment, and the routines inside it, are continuously altered and renewed, to 'fit' Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's slower (and physically challenged) bodies as best as possible. On the weekends, when two of her sons come over, Mrs. de Groot now orders Chinese take-out instead of preparing a large family meal. In all honesty, Mrs. de Groot has never been a fan of cooking, but now that her energy levels are declining, she tries to use her time more efficiently. When she cooks, she often prepares a whole lot more than she needs, so she has enough food in her fridge for the upcoming days. Mrs. de Groot has also changed the way she reads. The heavy books that she used to take up to bed with her have been replaced by magazines and small paperbacks, which are a lot lighter and easier to hold. Furthermore, on one of my first visits to Mrs. Jacobs, she showed me the rope that is attached to the handle of the bathroom door. Proudly, she demonstrated how this rope makes it easier for her to open the door, and make use of the bathroom on her own.

Seemingly, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot's 'home lives' revolve around preserving their bodily energy, in order to uphold (or regain) control over personal space (see also Imrie, 2010). This constant revisioning or remaking of life inside the home, confirms that the (meaning of) home is never fixed. Not only does the home allow for both positive and negative feelings (moments of dependence/submission and instances of independence/control are taking turns); it is continuously changed to fit the (continuously changing) body. The home gives shape and meaning to Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's everyday lives in very complicated, and contrasting, ways. In the words of anthropologist Miller (2001, p. 4), the home is "a turbulent sea of constant negotiation rather than simply some haven for the self."

#### 4.3 Routines *outside* the home

Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot do not spend a lot of time outside the home. The reasons behind this, however, vary between the two. Mrs. de Groot is very active *inside* the home. Even though she has hired a cleaner (to clean the house every Monday morning), Mrs. de Groot does a lot of household chores herself. In a whispering voice, Mrs. de Groot reveals that this cleaner "is not very good at her job," and that she often has to correct her 'mistakes.' Mrs. de Groot still carries

full buckets with soapy water and heavy bags of soil; she still gets down to her knees to clean the space underneath the kitchen cabinets and occasionally climbs stools to hang laundry on the clothesline. This is, however, a completely different story outside the home. Mrs. de Groot admitted that she does not go on a lot of walks anymore, because this is "too tiring." She used to go grocery shopping with her shopping trolley. It is only a ten-minute walk from her home to the supermarket, but on the way back the trolley is now too heavy for her to pull comfortably. "It is my own fault, really. I put too much stuff in it." On the second of July, Mrs. de Groot's daughter (Katrien) came to pick her up, to go grocery shopping together. Before Katrien's arrival, Mrs. de Groot declared: "I don't think I'm going. I have diarrhoea." Instead, she wrote a shopping list, so Katrien could buy every item she needed that week, on her own. Mrs. de Groot does not seem to mind it though, that she has to let somebody else run her errands. In fact, she is "perfectly fine" with it. While sitting in her lawn chair, smiling at a couple of house sparrows (that are enthusiastically eating the old bread crumbs Mrs. de Groot just threw all around the garden), Mrs. de Groot repeated that she is "perfectly happy right here. I don't need anything else." Clearly, Mrs. de Groot prefers the comforts of her own home over the tiring process of grocery shopping. Furthermore, every year during the summer vacation, Katrien and her husband Ton invite Mrs. de Groot on a 3-day trip. Yet, this year, for the first time, Mrs. de Groot is reluctant to go, because "they like to walk [...] a lot, and very fast." It seems, Mrs. de Groot is afraid she is no longer able to keep up with her daughter's and son-in-law's pace, and that a multiple-day trip will simply be too tiring for her. This implies that Mrs. de Groot's rhythm is no longer in sync with those of (younger) others (see Lager et al., 2016). In this regard, the 'outside world' is emphasising Mrs. de Groot's physical decline, rather than "supporting [her] wellbeing and productivity" (WHO, 2007a, p. 4).

Occasionally, Mrs. de Groot would complain about the quality of the pavements in Hatert. Indeed, many paving tiles are crooked and have cracks in them. "You really have to lift your feet when you walk here." With a mischievous smile, Mrs. de Groot continued: "I don't always do that. They say I shuffle too much." In the month of April, Mrs. de Groot said that her sister fell on one of Hatert's sidewalks. "She looks really awful. Her face is full of bruises." After this incident, Mrs. de Groot seemed even less keen on going out. "You really have to be careful *out there*. Have you seen my sister?" The fear of falling is, indeed, a common concern among seniors, as their agility, vision, reaction time, and balance decreases over time (Ahrentzen, 2010). When Mrs. de Groot *does* go out, it is primarily for social reasons. Every Saturday, together with her sister, she pays a visit to the cemetery, where her husband is buried, and every other Sunday, Mrs. de Groot visits her other sister in Mook. Around May 28, Mrs.

de Groot had to 'baby-sit' her son Rob's dog, because Rob was hospitalized for a few days. Every morning, Mrs. de Groot would go out to the nearest green, to let the little dog run around. It was not really necessary to walk the dog, because the little animal could just run around in Mrs. de Groot's garden. However, Mrs. de Groot seemed to want to take her job very seriously "for *Robbie*." Another, completely different reason for Mrs. de Groot to go out, are her visits to the garden centre. She welcomes any opportunity for new plants, flowers, and pots. During my first visits to Mrs. de Groot, she would fantasise about the different types of flowers she would get to pimp her already colourful garden. However, "Katrien thinks it's too early still. I have to wait until the weather gets better."

Noticeably, Mrs. de Groot loses (a part of) her self-assurance as soon as she steps foot outside the home. Inside the home she likes to do things herself, even corrects people when things are not done *her* way. Yet, outside the home, Mrs. de Groot welcomes any opportunity for others to run her errands with open arms – so *she* can stay inside. She only goes out when she really needs or wants to. Mrs. de Groot does not seem "to need it anymore." She is perfectly happy just where she is; in one of the lawn chairs, in her garden. This begs the question whether efforts to enhance Hatert's accessibility will be sufficient to get Mrs. de Groot out of this comfortable chair, into the neighbourhood.

In contrast to Mrs. de Groot, Mrs. Jacobs is really aching to go out. However, her body is working against her. Mrs. Jacobs is not able to go out by herself, because the doorsteps (of the front and backdoor) are dangerously high. She (literally) needs another person to bridge the gap between the inside and the outside of her house. As a consequence, Mrs. Jacobs spends most of her days inside the home. On Tuesdays, Anita (the home help), occasionally takes Mrs. Jacobs with her to the supermarket. Although it is only for half an hour, Mrs. Jacobs really appreciates it. One of the consequences is that Anita has less time to clean Mrs. Jacobs' rooms, but Mrs. Jacobs gladly takes this for granted. Mrs. Jacobs was enrolled on the Sterker Sociaal Werk's waitlist, specifically for a volunteer that would be willing to go on walks with her in the neighbourhood (rolstoelwandelen). Hence, on Thursdays (when the weather allowed it), Mrs. Jacobs and I would go out. In total, we went on fourteen walks, that all lasted for about an hour. Initially, Mrs. Jacobs determined the routes of our walks in Nijmegen-Oud-West. These routes would always lead us to, or along, shops. The shop we visited most often was the nearby supermarket Jumbo. Mrs. Jacobs does not often get the chance to pick out items herself. She really seemed to enjoy it that she could just take her time, and carefully consider every option; to deliberately treat herself "for once." Additionally, Mrs. Jacobs often wanted to buy pastries for her son (Robert) and dog food for his dogs, in case Robert would come visit. Being in control

of her own grocery shopping seemed to give her a sense of satisfaction and peace of mind, because now "I'm sure I have everything I need." However, Mrs. Jacobs was not always sure about what she needed to buy. Once we returned home with a bag of dog food, but when I opened the kitchen cabinet there still were two unopened bags. From that moment on, I would always check Mrs. Jacobs' inventory before our walk. Of course, it could have been Mrs. Jacobs' memory, that let her down in this moment. However, she always seemed to have a (new) reason to "go to the shops" – something she always enjoyed doing. It appears, our trips to Jumbo not only made her feel in control, they also fulfilled her need to be part of something bigger than her home, and to meet (or just be among) other people. Distressed, Mrs. Jacobs would look at the Zimmer frame in the corner of her living room. "When I still was able to walk with it [nodding to the Zimmer frame], I could just look for sociality on my own." In this regard, our Thursday walks were actually Mrs. Jacobs retrieving or reviving her old routines of 'going to the shops' and finding conviviality. This suggests that everyday contact (even from a distance) can affect people's lives and can be meaningful for those involved. Indeed, the 'lighttouch' sociality in the supermarket offered Mrs. Jacobs brief moments of "enjoyment, restoration, wonder" (van Eck & Pijpers, 2017, p. 167) (see also Turel et al., 2007; Laurier & Philo, 2006; Watson, 2009).

It seems, creating an age-friendly environment is not enough to pull Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot out of their homes. AIP policy assumes that when public spaces are made accessible (and inclusive), older people will automatically start using them. However, the experiences of Mrs. de Groot and Mrs. Jacobs show that the reality is much more complex. Although Hatert's accessibility leaves a lot to be desired, it is not (only) the fear of falling and her limited energy that discourages Mrs. de Groot to go out; rather, it is her preference for being in, and taking care of, the garden that has her glued to home. The case of Mrs. de Groot suggests that older people *are* able to age comfortably *inside* the home, and that the use of public space is not necessarily important for every senior. Furthermore, AIP policy argues that older people's familiarity with the physical and social structure of their neighbourhood will help them maintain autonomy and independence (Gardner, 2011; Rowles & Watkins, 2003; Wiles et al., 2012). However, Mrs. Jacobs is not able to use the extensive knowledge that she has of Nijmegen-Oud-West, because she is physically unable to go out on her own. Whether a neighbourhood's accessibility is enhanced or not, some seniors will continue to be dependent on the wilfulness of others to take them out.

### 4.4 Routines *beyond* the inside/outside divide

In the routines discussed above, there appears to be a clear-cut line between the inside and the outside of the home. However, as the literature on the spatiality of home already suggested, the home is "multi-scalar" (Blunt & Dowling, 2006, p. 22). This means that the home consists of various movements, communications, and social relations that stretch beyond it (Massey, 1992). Consequently, a large number of Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's routines *inside* the home are related to events and occurrences *outside* the home. These routines confirm a 'blurring' of the distinctions between public and private spheres (neighbourhood and home) (see Blunt & Varley, 2004; Milligan, 2005, 2009).

#### 4.4.1 Just smile and wave

Mrs. Jacobs spends most of the day, sitting in her wheelchair, in front of the window. From here, she has "a nice view" of the street where she lives. Mrs. Jacobs seemed quite proud that, in this way, she is able to keep a close eye on everything that happens in (her part of) the street. In May, there was an unknown car parked in the street, just a few meters away from Mrs. Jacobs' house. The police officers, who came to inspect the car, "almost immediately turned to me, to ask if I had seen something suspicious!" It appears, the police officers did not only bring some 'excitement' to Mrs. Jacobs' life; by approaching her as a potential witness, they made her feel 'included' in public life. The role of observer gives Mrs. Jacobs the opportunity to experience the neighbourhood, within the home. She "insert[s] a part of the public domain into the privacy of [her home]" (van Melik & Pijpers, 2017, p. 300). Sometimes, when the weather is really hot, Mrs. Jacobs opens the front door of her house and sits down in the hallway (just in front of the opening), to enjoy the sun and fresh air. Mrs. Jacobs GP recommended this to her, for the sake of her health. However, it also brings Mrs. Jacobs even closer to 'the happenings' in the street, making her feel part of it all. With all the power she has left, she literally pushes the boundaries of her home (to a breaking point), in order to feel more involved in public life.

The same goes, although to a lesser degree, for Mrs. de Groot. Both women enjoy spending time in front of their window, looking at everything that happens outside. They both tell vivid, colourful stories about the events that occurred here and the (familiar) people that walk by. Though, for Mrs. Jacobs, the observer role seems to contain an extra layer of meaning, because she is not able to go out on her own. Mrs. Jacobs certainly flourishes when someone

walks by that she recognises, particularly when they smile and wave at her. Immediately her eyes light up and a big smile appears. Her left hand moves to her right elbow, to support her right arm in waving back. This happens quite frequently; during my visit on March 22 as many as four times. The regular 'wavers' are Mrs. Jacobs' next-door neighbour, the woman who walks with her two Labradors, "the man with the umbrella," and, of course, the neighbour from across the street (residing at number 23). On one occasion, Mrs. Jacobs compared herself to a queen: "Now, I'm living a queen's life. I'm constantly waving!" It seems, obtaining social capital is not only grounded on actual communication (van Eck & Pijpers, 2017). Mrs. Jacobs acquires it via simple visual encounters, from behind her window. These everyday moments of contact are not merely 'signs of coexistence;' they are meaningful encounters that can have positive effects on the lives of older people (ibid.). Certainly, they are of great significance for Mrs. Jacobs. They offer her brief moment of enjoyment and kindness, wherein Mrs. Jacobs is able to forget her worries and everyday frustrations.

However, are these meaningful encounters enough? Unfortunately, both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot appear to be missing a deeper form of social contact, in which they can fully express their concerns and clear their heart. Although the encounters with neighbours are of immeasurable value, they are all-too-brief for Mrs. Jacobs to express her deeper thoughts and feelings. For Mrs. Jacobs, Robert (her youngest son) is an important source of social contact, but her relationship with him has never been easy. Robert is easily upset and often misinterprets his mother's comments. Hence, "I always have to weigh my words." One of Mrs. Jacobs' main concerns is her other son, Frank, who she has not seen in years. However, she is "not allowed" to mention his name in the presence of Robert, since the fight between the two brothers has not yet been resolved. Furthermore, when Mrs. Jacobs tries to tell Robert about her (sometimes unbearable) frustrations with her physical limitations and dependence, "he says I have to stop complaining all the time. [...] He has no idea how difficult it is." Clearly, Mrs. Jacobs lacks a person in her social network, to whom she can talk freely, about her deepest feelings and darkest thoughts. Mrs. de Groot has a slightly larger social network than Mrs. Jacobs, and can easily appeal to her children and neighbours for instrumental support. Still, Mrs. de Groot was enrolled on the Sterker Sociaal Werk's waitlist for a reason. Namely, Mrs. de Groot worries a lot about her children, especially her sons Edwin and Rob, who are in ill health. This was a recurring topic during my visits to Mrs. de Groot. Mrs. de Groot spends most of her days alone, with no one there to set her troubled mind at ease. So, when I arrived on Mondays at 2:00 p.m., Mrs. de Groot would (almost) immediately start talking about her son's ailing health. Although she has

become quite good at keeping herself 'busy,' Mrs. de Groot does not seem to have enough opportunities in her everyday life to voice her concerns.

Local social contacts are, thus, highly important resources for receiving instrumental and social support (Völker, Flap, & Lindenberg, 2007). AIP policy, that emphasises the role of community networks in the neighbourhood, can, thus, improve older people's wellbeing and sense of happiness. Especially for Mrs. Jacobs, who has limited social ties and experiences major problems with her physical mobility, the visual encounters with neighbours are highly important. They offer her brief moments of joy and kindness, during this difficult time in her life. Certainly, everyday contact (even from a distance) are meaningful to those involved. However, in the long term, they are not able to (completely) fulfil older people's social needs. Undeniably, Mrs. de Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot have a need for a deeper form of social contact, and it is highly unlikely that AIP (on its own) is going to solve this.

#### 4.4.2 Some rules are not meant to be broken

Older people do not only experience the 'outside world' through their window – by pulling a part of the public into the privacy of their homes. Neighbours, family members, and care providers also step foot *inside*. Indeed, the home is not only a physical space in which we shelter; it also is a space where many social interactions take place (Oswald & Wahl, 2005; Milligan, 2009). This is particularly true in the context of home care (Cloutier et al., 2015). From the moment she fell of her bed, Mrs. Jacobs became dependent on the regular presence of care professionals in her home. They arrive as many as four times a day, to dress and wash her, to hand over her medications, and to prepare and warm up her meals. Hence, Mrs. Jacobs' home has become a site of long-term care. When homes become places of care, boundaries between public and private space become (even more) blurry (see Dyck et al., 2005; Milligan, 2005, 2009; Twigg, 2000; Williams, 2002). Some academics would say that Mrs. Jacobs' home has turned into a "public-private space" or a "pseudo-institution," because of the large amounts of care services she utilises at home (Cloutier et al., 2015, p. 769). In any case, it brings the privacy of Mrs. Jacobs' home (and the routines she performs inside it) into tension.

Generally, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are quite willing to compromise when it comes to 'intruders.' Of course, care professionals entering the home need workspaces that are clean, hygienic, and efficient for the purpose of delivering care (Milligan, 2009). This usually entails a reorganisation of domestic space (ibid.), for instance by moving the bed from the

upstairs bedroom to the living room downstairs. In the case of Mrs. Jacobs, it also required a physical modification of the house's infrastructure, through the installation of a stair lift, ramps, and grab rails. However, it is not only 'the physical home' that is compromised here (Oswald & Wahl, 2005). It also brings 'the emotional home' into tension (ibid.). Indeed, the home is a site of emotion and personal meaning, because of the routines older people are (still) able to perform in it. When the home becomes a site of care, however, certain routines or 'inside rules' (laid down in the home), have to be adjusted, or even disappear altogether. Recently, Mrs. de Groot had to hire a cleaner. For the most part, Mrs. de Groot is able to accept that household chores are no longer carried out completely according to her 'rules.' In fact, she can even be quite happy with the extra pair of hands. "She is very tall, you know. With her long arms, she easily cleans on top of the cupboard, it is unbelievable!" The challenge might be greater for Mrs. Jacobs, who is highly dependent on care professionals, in the performance of day-to-day activities. Her home's whole 'rule book' had to be rewritten. Furthermore, a lot of rewriting was executed, not by Mrs. Jacobs herself, but by the professional care taker. As stated before, the care professional acts as Mrs. Jacobs' "rhythm-maker" (Mels, 2004, p. 3). Since her fall, Mrs. Jacobs is no longer the one that decides when she eats, drinks, sleeps, or showers. Generally, Mrs. Jacobs is able to accept that her (personal) routines, inside the home, are no longer that 'private,' and perhaps not all 'her own' anymore. She and Mrs. de Groot are both willing to adjust, but this is not only for the sake of their physical health. It is also a means to satisfy their social-emotional needs. Indeed, professional care takers are an important source of social contact for older persons (Milligan, 2000), making them willing to sacrifice a part of their 'private' home.

Several authors believe that the home is the optimal space in which to provide care (see Milligan, 2009). For instance, Rowles (1993, p. 66) argued that the familiarity of home facilitates a "preconscious sense of setting." Over time, we develop routines inside the home, by practicing them, over and over again. This process enhances our ability to instinctively negotiate spaces within the home without coming to any harm (ibid.). However, the routine use of space can also restrict a person. Indeed, once a routine is attained, a person "is closely held to it, and by its own initiative is limited in the creation of new routines" (Seamon, 1979, p. 49). In this regard, older people can be very vulnerable to change (Milligan, 2009). Indeed, for Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot, the process of adapting to 'intruders' is not always easy. For instance, on my first visit to Mrs. de Groot, I (unsuspectingly) choose to sit on the sofa. This turned out to be Mrs. de Groot's usual spot, and hence, at our second meeting I was politely urged to sit somewhere else. Mrs. de Groot would also regularly complain about her cleaner, for not doing

her job well. When this cleaner cleans the medicine cabinet in Mrs. de Groot's bathroom, she "always puts the products in their wrong place." Afterwards, "I have to put them all back to where they belong. [...] I can better do it myself." It appears, certain 'inside rules' remain highly important to Mrs. de Groot, and are not meant to be broken.

In the week of June 11, Anita (Mrs. Jacobs' home help) was on holiday. Anita had found someone else to go grocery shopping for Mrs. Jacobs, and left this person a detailed grocery list. However, Mrs. Jacobs was very upset by this situation. When I arrived on June 14, Mrs. Jacobs immediately asked me to count the ready-to-serve dinners in her fridge. All confused and anxious, she could not believe that Anita's replacement got her "eight meals!" Because of Anita's holiday, the replacement had to buy a few extra meals (as was neatly written down on the grocery list) – but this made Mrs. Jacobs completely confused. "That is way too much! Now I don't have any money left!" I counted and recounted the meals (and the days left until Anita would come back from her holiday) out loud, and assured her that it was right, but Mrs. Jacobs remained overwhelmed by it all. "I believe you, I do. But I don't feel it." On May 24, a team supervisor of Mrs. Jacobs' home care organisation let me in. She came to visit Mrs. Jacobs to talk about her son Robert's dogs. Apparently, a few of her employees uttered that they no longer feel comfortable working for Mrs. Jacobs when Robert and his dogs are present. When I entered the room, Mrs. Jacobs was clearly upset. "He [one of the dogs] jumped on her only once!" The supervisor explains that the employees feel intimidated by Robert and his dogs, which makes working for Mrs. Jacobs an unpleasant experience. However, Mrs. Jacobs is not willing to confront Robert about this. On the verge of tears, she announces: "I'm not going to do that. No, I'm really not. [...] If I say something, he won't come anymore." Mrs. Jacobs is clearly afraid that she is going to lose her son's visits. Notwithstanding that they have a troubled, complicated relationship, Robert's regular visits have become a very valuable routine to, and an important source of social contact for, Mrs. Jacobs.

In these instances, the effects of care professionals entering her home seem too overwhelming for Mrs. Jacobs. In this regard, the home is no longer a uniform space of safety, familiarity, and nurture, wherein *Mrs. Jacobs* is able to control decisions about who to admit or to exclude (Tuan, 2004). It appears, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot can be extremely flexible and generous, when it comes to adapting to the new 'normal.' However, some house rules are not meant to be broken. Indeed, when certain rules are not followed (for instance, Mrs. de Groot's seating arrangements or Mrs. Jacobs' spending habits), this can cause major discomfort or even (blind) panic. Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot might not be emotionally attached to their homes; they certainly are keen on *their* habitual routines. In summation, the 'outside world' *has* 

effect on the older person's home and the routines performed inside it – both in a passive way (through the window) and an active way (in the receipt of home care). The home space is, thus, not as private and autonomous as the AIP approach had us believed. In any case, if we really are to understand the AIP experience, we need to move beyond the private-public (homeneighbourhood) divide.

## 5 Conclusion

Two converging trends are shaping social and economic life in the 21<sup>st</sup> century: population ageing on the one hand and increased urbanisation on the other (Steels, 2015). Population ageing is taking place all over the world. Globally, the proportion of those aged over 60 is expected to increase from 12,3% to 22% in 2050 (ibid.). Of equal importance is the spread of urbanisation. Over half of the world's population (54%) now lives in urban areas, and this is expected to increase to around two-thirds by 2050 (Rémillard-Boilard, 2018). Thus, a growing number of people will live and spend their old age in cities. These trends have encouraged local governments to consider how best to develop communities that are accessible for all inhabitants (Fitzgerald & Caro, 2014). Hence, efforts to make cities and communities more 'age-friendly' have gained significant momentum in recent years (ibid.).

One of the dominant approaches has been to encourage ageing in place (AIP). This policy stimulates older citizens to age in their own home and neighbourhood, for as long as possible (Milligan, 2009). AIP underscores the role of community networks in the provision of support to older people (Thomése et al., 2018). The AIP approach has been reinforced by an extensive body of literature on the preferences and priorities of older people (Means, 2007). Ageing at home appears to be the residential strategy that most older people prefer, even when they have economic difficulties, or are in need of care (Gilleard et al., 2007). Moreover, AIP is often associated with older people's place attachment, which establishes itself through the length of residence in the neighbourhood (Lager et al., 2016). Research in this field has highlighted that AIP positively affects older people's place attachment (Thomése et al., 2018). In other words, the longer older people live in an area, the more likely they are to develop strong feelings, and an affective bond, towards it (Smetcoren, 2015; Buffel et al., 2014). Through spatial routines and habits, people establish a sense of familiarity with the physical and social structure of their living environment, and this familiarity (or insideness) is considered key in the lives and wellbeing of older people, as it confers a sense of belonging and independence (Gardner, 2011; Rowles & Watkins, 2003; Wiles et al., 2012).

Evidently, AIP policy (and the literature that supports it) attaches particular importance to the neighbourhood (and its community) and pays little, to no, attention to the home itself. Moreover, when writers do take into account the spatiality of home, it is often in a negative sense, because seniors who spend many hours inside the home are "more prone to isolation, depression, reduced fitness and increased mobility problems" (WHO, 2002, p. 27). In this view,

ageing can only be a positive experience when the older person 'goes out.' The AIP approach puts the home down as a treacherous space, that is able to imprison (Rowles, 1978), confine (Brickell, 2012), or trap (Zidén et al., 2008), and where feelings of loneliness and solitude could hit at any given moment. In any case, this explains AIP's concern with creating age-friendly public spaces – to 'liberate' older people from their home.

However, geographic writings on the spatiality of home take a more balanced view. These writings suggest that the home gives shape and meaning to people's everyday lives in very complicated and contrasting ways (Brickell, 2012). In this vein, Blunt and Varley (2004, p. 3) argue that the home is a space of both "belonging and alienation, intimacy and violence, desire and fear." These mixed feelings are seen as crucial in understanding the meaning of home (Manzo, 2003). The home is a site of ambiguity; the home's limiting functions are always interconnected with its protective ones (Schröder, 2006). It seems AIP's one-sided narrative on the spatiality of home needs to be complicated by more positive feelings to home, such as belonging, rootedness, memory, and nostalgia (Brickell, 2012). Research needs "to focus on the ways in which home disappoints, aggravates, neglects, confines and contradicts as much as it inspires and comforts us" (Moore, 2000, p. 213). This begs the question whether the current imagery of the *cage* still serves us.

To get a better understanding of the role and meaning of home in the AIP experience, I engaged in a case study research, of two cases. From March until August 2018, I visited two older people almost once a week, in the neighbourhoods Nijmegen-Oud-West and Hatert, in the city of Nijmegen. In total, I paid 22 visits to Mrs. Jacobs and 18 visits to Mrs. de Groot. Both women were ageing in their own home and neighbourhood, and were 91 and 88 years of age. Every visit lasted for about two hours, which corresponds to about 80 hours of extensive data gathering. This intensive contact, over an extensive period of time, made it possible to reconstruct detailed and in-depth case study reports on the time-space routines of both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot (both *inside* and *outside* the home). I made use of multiple data collection methods: informal conversation, small-talk, walking interview, and (participant) observation. Like most case study researchers, I adopted this "palette of methods" (Stake, 1995, p. xi) to obtain a range of perspectives and insights into the case, in order to further develop and understand it (Taylor, 2016).

Nonetheless, this research was subject to several limitations. One of them has to do with the restricted number of cases I selected. Rather than looking at a few variables in a large number of cases, I focused on the complex interactions of many factors in 'only' two. With this, I weakened the study's generalisability (Thomas, 2011). The cases of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de

Groot are in no sense representative, or typical, of a wider population (ibid.). On the basis of this case study research, I am not able to make firm predictions about the older population as a whole. For this, one simply needs a substantially larger set of cases. However, it *did* result in a rich, detailed, and in-depth explanatory narrative – something I would not have been able to create with a larger number of cases. Although this research did not provide 'generalizable knowledge,' it *did* gain 'exemplary knowledge.' Hence, the cases of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are 'exemplifying' the AIP experience. They are unique, unusual, and revealing examples, that have the capability to bend the object's lineaments (ibid.). This study tried to "sophisticate the beholding" of AIP (Stake, 1995, p. 43); its function was to complicate, improve, and further develop, current understandings of AIP.

This research was further limited by my subjectivity. Some academics, particularly those from 'hard' science traditions, claim that case study research involves too many subjective decisions, to offer genuinely objective results (Cousin, 2005). Undeniably, the case study methodology falls within the interpretivist tradition, wherein the subjective bias of the researcher is accepted as a given (ibid.). Every researcher will come out of 'the field' with slightly different results. Hence, case studies never grasp the whole truth; they are "inherently partial – committed and incomplete" (Clifford, 1986, p. 7). My research was no exception to this rule. In truth, I had a very personal interaction with the 'cases.' The data was gathered in a close relationship between me and the two informants. It is therefore likely that my biased thoughts and personality traits influenced the research results. However, the possibility of neutrality in any academic discipline is increasingly understood as impossible (see Nowotny, Scott, & Gibbons, 2001). It remains to be seen if any research for that matter can be characterised as an 'objective' investigation. Moreover, I tried to maintain my professional objectivity as much as possible. First of all, six months have passed since my last visits to Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot. In this period, I was able to distance myself, physically and emotionally, from the data I gathered. Furthermore, I constantly reflected (preliminary) results on the already existing body of literature (on AIP and the spatiality of home) – in order to reinforce the trustworthiness of my findings.

It is, however, important to note that the literature I used in this thesis is primarily based on data from Western contexts. In actuality, research on the role of the environment on the wellbeing of (vulnerable) older people in *non*-western countries is rather sparse (Yang & Victor, 2008). As stated before, population ageing is taking place all over the world. Yet, its consequences can vary in intensity and form. For instance, adverse effects of population ageing (such as loneliness) might be stronger, and occur earlier, in non-western countries with poorer

living conditions and welfare provision (Hansen & Slagsvold, 2016). However, the opposite can also be argued. The issue of loneliness might be less relevant in non-western countries, as they often prioritise collectivistic values over individualistic ones, such as family and community bonds (Johnson & Mullins, 1987). Thus, whilst the WHO (2007a, p. 11) meant to provide "a universal standard for an age-friendly city" – that applies to less developed as well as more developed cities – this thesis is only able to 'exemplify' the AIP experience for countries in Western Europe.

This research has brought attention to the ambiguous character of home. Undoubtedly, the home gives shape and meaning to Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's lives in complicated and contrasting ways. Notwithstanding their slower rhythms, they are able to take control over personal space. They are by no means 'prisoners' awaiting their release. Indeed, Mrs. de Groot is most comfortable (and "perfectly happy") when she is in her colourful garden, packed with flowers and house sparrows. However, the same goes for the neighbourhood. Just as the home, the neighbourhood holds both negative and positive connotations. On the one hand, the neighbourhood emphasises Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's physical decline, because they are no longer able to 'keep up the pace.' Furthermore, due to Hatert's inadequate accessibility, Mrs. de Groot has a fear of falling, which makes her feel nervous when she goes out. On the other hand, the everyday encounters with neighbours are quite meaningful to both Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot (even from a distance). Particularly for Mrs. Jacobs, this 'light-touch' sociality offers brief moments of enjoyment. Evidently, the home is not *only* negative and the neighbourhood not *only* positive. It is therefore important that future research on AIP recognises the ambiguous character of home (and neighbourhood). Currently, AIP portrays a too negative image of home (as a space that imprisons and confines), and a too positive image of the neighbourhood (as a space that liberates and socialises). To break through this, we should renounce the imagery of the cage, and focus on 'the castle' as a metaphor for home. In contrast to a cage, a castle is both enclosing and restrictive and comforting and protective.

This research has also shown that the home is *not* a place untouched by the 'troubles' of public life, that enjoys an autonomous and independent existence. On the contrary, the home is 'multi-scalar,' as it consists of movements, communications, and social relations that stretch beyond it. Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's time-space routines inside the home are related to events and occurrences outside the home. The role of observer allows them to experience the neighbourhood *within* the home (through their window), by pulling a part of the public into the 'privacy' of their homes. The relocation of care (from institutional to domestic settings) blurs the divide between public and private spheres even further. Mrs. Jacobs' home can be termed a

'public-private space' or a 'pseudo-institution,' due to the large amounts of care services she utilises at home. The regular presence of (in)formal care workers brings the privacy of Mrs. Jacobs' home (and the personal routines performed inside it) into tension. Intentionally or unintentionally, public life finds its way inside Mrs. Jacobs' and Mrs. de Groot's homes; the neighbourhood is both visible and tangible *inside* the home. It is therefore important that future research moves beyond the dichotomy, between the (private) home and the (public) neighbourhood, that AIP currently maintains. Hence, to get a full understanding of the AIP experience, future research should focus on *both* the home and neighbourhood, but mainly on how the two relate and influence each other.

AIP is built on the premise that the neighbourhood will act as a 'supportive community,' that offers both instrumental and social support to its older inhabitants. Indeed, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot are surrounded by attentive neighbours, who are happy to help if needed. For Mrs. Jacobs, the everyday encounters with neighbours are immensely meaningful. They even make her feel like a 'queen.' In this regard, AIP is certainly able to improve older people's wellbeing and happiness. Yet, this research advocates that this 'light-touch' sociality is not able to completely fulfil older people's social needs. In the longer term, older people need a deeper, profounder form of social contact, and its highly unlikely that AIP – without taking the home into account – is going to provide this. With this, this research established the added value of the Sterker Sociaal Werk's 'buddy project.' The project not only recognises the significance of home; it meets older people's needs for a deeper, more personal, social relationship, wherein they can talk freely, about their deepest and darkest thoughts. Older people's wellbeing could, thus, be improved if organisations, such as Sterker Sociaal Werk would expand their buddy projects. Whilst the out-of-home activities (trips, coffee mornings, knitting groups) are of great importance, older people's (at times unbearable) worries and fears will most definitely return, as soon as they arrive back home, alone. However, just as AIP, Sterker Sociaal Werk's buddy project can be more responsive to the home's blurred lines. Although the buddies are already crossing the inside-outside divide, they could further capitalise it by combining activities inside the home with activities outside. For Mrs. Jacobs, for instance, the cups of tea (and biscuits) we shared inside the home, after a walk in the neighbourhood, were immensely valuable. In this way, the pleasant experience of our walk continued on inside the home, then became part of it. The 'buddy project' might be the perfect opportunity to go beyond the inside-outside divide, and use the home's blurred lines to older people's advantage.

Lastly, it is important to note that older people are not 'victims' of circumstances beyond their control. On the contrary, they are quite able, and willing, to adapt. In fact, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs de Groot are continuously altering and renewing their routinely use of space, to find a better 'fit' between the home and their slower, physically challenged bodies. Interestingly, when this process breaks down, the value of certain routines becomes crystal clear. In the context of home care, for instance, older people are 'forced' to change or break down their habitual routines, for the purpose of delivering safe care. This outside force can be experienced as too overpowering and lead to feelings of discomfort and anxiety, because the home, and the routines performed inside it, no longer feel *theirs*. In these instances, care workers will encounter resistance from their clients, who are trying to regain control. This makes the spatiality of home even more complex. Older people's experiences of home change over time; the home can be positively evaluated at one time, and negatively at another. Thus, the home and its inhabitants "do not hold still for their portraits" (Clifford, 1986, p. 10). In spite of their physical limitations, Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot still try, with might and main, to 'reign' over intruders – as any respectable queen of a castle would.

In short, as things stand at present, AIP (and the academic literature that stands by it) pays too little attention to the home. Moreover, when AIP *does* take into account the home, it usually is in a negative way. The case studies of Mrs. Jacobs and Mrs. de Groot indicate, however, that the home also has its advantages. Hence, AIP is currently in discord with the experiences of two 'older' older people. This is perhaps because AIP is set (too much) on the capabilities of 'younger' older people, who are still quite active and have a larger social network to fall back on – in other words, who are less housebound (and perhaps put a lesser value on life inside it). The experiences of 'younger' older people have, however, not been studied in this thesis. Future research on AIP may choose to include both the 'younger' and 'older' older people (65-80 and 80+), to develop a more complete view of the role and meaning of home in the AIP experience. In any case, for the 'older' older people, it is important that AIP starts to recognise the more positive sides to home. In this way, it becomes easier to understand the home as a space that is ever-changing, from both the inside-out and the outside-in.

# 6 References

- Adam, B. (2000). The Temporal Gaze: The Challenge for Social Theory in the Context of GM Food. In *The British Journal of Sociology*, 51: 125-142.
- Ahrentzen, S. (2014). On Their Own Turf: Community Design and Active Aging in a Naturally Occurring Retirement Community. In *Journal of Housing For the Elderly*, 24(3-4): 267-290.
- Ali-Ali, N. & Koser, K. (2002). Transnationalism, International Migration and Home. In *New Approaches to Migration? Transnational Communities and the Transformation of Home*, edited by N. Ali-Ali & K. Koser, p. 1-14. London: Routledge.
- Allen, C. (2000). On the 'Physiological Dope' Problematic in Housing and Illness Research:

  Towards A Critical Realism of Home and Health. In *Housing, Theory and Society*,
  17(1), 49-67.
- Allen, C., Milner, J. and Price, D. (2002). *Home is Where the Start is: The Housing and Urban Experiences of Visual Impaired Children*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- Andrews, G. J., Cutchin, M., McCracken, K., Phillips, D. R., & Wiles, J. (2007). Geographical Gerontology: The Constitution of a Discipline. In *Social Science & Medicine*, 65: 151-168.
- Andrews, G. J., Evans, J., & Wiles, J. L. (2013). Re-Spacing and Re-Placing Gerontology: Relationality and Affect. In *Ageing & Society*, 33: 1339-1373.
- Austin, C., McClelland, R., Perrault, E., & Sieppert, J. (2009). The Elder-Friendly Communities Program. In *Generations*, 33(2): 87-90.
- Badgett, L. & Folbre, N. (1999). Assigning Care: Gender Norms and Economic Outcomes. In *International Labour Review*, 138: 311-326.
- Barusch, A. S. (2013). Age-Friendly Cities: A Social Work Perspective. In *Journal of Gerontology Social Work*, 56(6): 465-472.
- Bassey, M. (1999). Case Study Research in Educational Settings. Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press.
- Bassey, M. (2001). A Solution to the Problem of Generalization in Educational Research: Fuzzy prediction. In *Oxford Review of Education*, 27(1): 5-22.
- Bickenbach, J. (1993). *Physical Disability and Social Policy*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Bildtgard, T. & Oberg, P. (2015). Time as a Structuring Condition Behind New Intimate

- Relationships in Later Life. In Ageing & Society, 35: 1505-1528.
- Bissell, D. & Fuller, G. (2011). Stillness in a Mobile World. London: Routledge.
- Blokland, T. (2003). Urban Bonds. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Blunt, A. (2005). Domicile and Diaspora: Anglo-Indian Women and the Spatial Politics of Home. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Blunt, A. & Dowling, R. (2006). Home. Abingdon: Routledge.
- Blunt, A. & Varley, A. (2004). Introduction: Geographies of Home. In *Cultural Geographies*, 11(1): 3-6.
- Brickell, K. (2012). 'Mapping' and 'Doing' Critical Geographies of Home. In *Progress in Human Geography*, 36(2): 225-244.
- Brown, M. (2003). Hospice and the Spatial Paradox of Terminal Care. In *Environment and Planning A*, 35: 833-851.
- Buffel, T., de Donder, L., Phillipson, C., Dury, S., de Witte, N., & Verté, D. (2014). Social Participation Among Older Adults Living in Medium-Sized Cities in Belgium: The Role of Neighbourhood Perceptions. In *Health Promotion International*, 29(4): 655-668.
- Buffel, T., Handler, S., & Phillipson, C. (2018). *Age-Friendly Cities and Communities: A Global Perspective*. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Buffel, T. & Phillipson, C. (2016). Can Global Cities be "Age-Friendly Cities"? Urban Development and Ageing Populations. In *Cities*, 55: 94-100.
- Buffel, T., Phillipson, C., & Scharf, T. (2012). Ageing in Urban Environments: Developing 'Age-Friendly' Cities. In *Critical Social Policy*, 32(4): 597-617.
- Buffel, T., Phillipson, C., & Scharf, T. (2013). Experiences of Neighbourhoud Exclusion and Inclusion among Older People Living in Deprived Inner-City Areas in Belgium and England. In *Ageing & Society*, 33(1) 89-109.
- Burns, V., Lavoie, P., & Rose, D. (2012). Revisiting the Role of Neighbourhood Change in Social Exclusion and Inclusion of Older People. In *Journal of Aging Research*: 1-12.
- Castree, N. (2005). The Epistemology of Particulars: Human Geography, Case Studies and "Context." In *Geoforum*, 36(5): 541-544.
- CBS StatLine. (2016). *Prognose Bevolking; Geslacht en Leeftijd*, 2017-2060. Accessed on February 26, 2018. http://statline.cbs.nl
- Chapman, T. & Hockey, J. (1999). *Ideal Homes? Social Change and Domestic Life*. London: Routledge.
- Clifford, J. (1986). Partial Truths. In Writing Culture: The Poetics and Politics of

- *Ethnography*, edited by J. Clifford & G. E. Marcus, p. 1-19. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Cloutier, D. S., Martin-Matthews, A., Byrne, K., & Wolse, F. (2015). The Space Between:
  Using 'Relational Ethics' and 'Relational Space' to Explore Relationship-Building
  Between Care Providers and Care Recipients in the Home Space. In *Social & Cultural Geography*, 16(7): 764-782.
- Conradson, D. (2003). Geographies of Care: Spaces, Practices, Experiences. In *Social & Cultural Geography*, 4: 451-454.
- Cousin, G. (2005). Case Study Research. In *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 29(3): 421-427.
- Crang, M. (2001). Rhythms of the City: Temporalised Space and Motion. In Timespace. Geographies of Temporality, edited by J. May & N. Thrift, p. 187-207. Oxon: Routledge.
- Cresswell, T. (2010). Towards a Politics of Mobility. In *Environment & Planning D: Society & Space*, 28: 17-31.
- Cresswell, T. (2012). Mobilities II: Still. In Progress in Human Geography, 36: 645-653.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cutchin, M. P. (2001). Deweyan Integration: Moving Beyond Place Attachment in Elderly Migration Theory. In *The International Journal of Aging and Human Development*, 52: 29-44.
- Domosh, M. (1998) Geography and Gender: Home, Again? In *Progress in Human Geography*, 22(2): 276-282.
- De Donder, L., Buffel, T., De Witte, N., Dury, S., & Verté, D. (2013). Perceptual Quality of Neighbourhood Design and Feelings of Unsafety. In *Ageing & Society*, 33(6): 917-937.
- De Vaus, D. A. (2001). Research Design in Social Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Droogleever Fortuijn, J., van der Meer, M., Burholt, V., Ferring, D. (2006). The Activity Patterns of Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Study in Six European Countries. In *Population, Space and Place*, 12: 353-369.
- Duncan, J. S. & Lambert, D. (2004). Landscapes of Home. In *A Companion to Cultural Geography*, edited by J. Duncan, N. C. Johnson, & R. H. Schein, p. 382-403. Oxford: Blackwell.

- Dyck, I., Kontos, P., Angus, J., & McKeever, P. (2005). The Home as a Site for Long-Term Care: Meanings and Management of Bodies and Spaces. In *Health & Place*, 11: 173-185.
- Edensor, T. (2006). Reconsidering National Temporalities: Institutional Times, Everyday Routines, Serial Spaces and Synchronicities. In *European Journal of Social Theory*, 9: 525-545.
- Edensor, T. (2010). *Geographies of Rhythm. Nature, Place, Mobilities and Bodies*. Farnham: Ashgate.
- Edensor, T & Holloway, J. (2008). Rhythmanalysing the Coch Tour: The Ring of Kerry, Ireland. In *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 33: 483-501.
- Eerste Kamer. (2018). Wetsvoorstel 20121: Wet Maatschappelijke Ondersteuning. Accessed on February 17, 2018.

  https://www.eerstekamer.nl/wetsvoorstel/30131 wet maatschappelijke
- Ehrenreich, B. & English, D. (1978). For Her Own Good: 150 Years of Experts' Advice to Women. New York: Anchor Press.
- Eisenhard, K. M. (1989). Building Theories from Case Study Research. In *The Academy of Management Review*, 14(4): 532-550.
- European Commission. (1999). *Towards a Europe for All Ages: Promoting Prosperity and Intergenerational Solidarity*. Accessed on October 24, 2018. http://ec.europa.eu/employment social/social situation/docs/com221 en.pdf
- Fischer, C. S. (1982). *To Dwell Amongst Friends: Personal Networks in Town and City*. Chicago, Illinois: University of Chicago Press.
- Fitzgerald, K. G. & Caro, F. G. (2014). An Overview of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities Around the World. In *Journal of Aging & Social Policy*, 26: 1-18.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research. In *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(2): 219-245.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2011). Case Study. In *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*, edited by D. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln, p. 301-316. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Folbre, N. (1986). Hearth and Spades: Paradigms of Household Economics. In *World Development*, 14: 245-255.
- Galčanová, L. & Sýkorová, D. (2015). Socio-spatial Aspects of Ageing in an Urban Context:

  An Example from Three Czech Republic Cities. In *Ageing and Society*, 35: 1200-1220.
- Gardner, P. J. (2011). Natural Neighbourhood Networks: Important Social Networks in the

- Lives of Older Adults Aging in Place. In *Journal of Aging Studies*, 25: 263-271.
- Geertz, C. (1983). Local Knowledge: Further Essays in Interpretive Anthropology. New York: Basic Books.
- Gilleard, C., Hyde, M., & Higgs, P. (2007). The Impact of Age, Place, Aging in Place, and Attachment to Place on the Well-Being of The Over 50s in England. In *Research on Aging*, 29(6): 590-605.
- The Guardian. (2015). Our Cities Must Undergo A Revolution For Older People. Accessed on November 7, 2018.

  https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2015/mar/15/age-friendly-cities-design-future
- Golant, S. M. (2003). Conceptualizing Time and Behavior in Environmental Gerontology: A Pair of Old Issues Deserving New Thought. In *The Gerontologist*, 43: 633-648.
- Goldsack, L. (1999). A Haven in a Heartless World? Women and Domestic Violence. In *Ideal Homes? Social Change and Domestic Life*, edited by T. Chapman & J. Hockey, p. 121-132. London: Routledge.
- Gomm, R., Hammersley, M., & Foster, P. (2000). Case Study and Generalization. In Case Study Method, edited by R. Gomm, M. Hammersley, & P. Foster, p. 98-116. London: Sage Publications.
- Guiliani, M. V. & Feldman, R. (1993). Place Attachment in a Developmental and Cultural Context. In *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 13: 267-274.
- Guyau, J. M. (1988). The Origin of the Idea of Time by Jean-Marie Guyau. In *Guyau and the Idea of Time*, edited by J. A. Michon, V. Pouthas, & J. L. Jackson, p. 93-148.

  Amsterdam: North-Holland Publishing Company.
- Hall, E., Chouinard, V., & Wilton, R. (2010). *Towards Enabling Geographies: 'Disabled' Bodies and Minds in Society and Space*. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Hammersley, M. & Gomm, R. (2000). Introduction. In *Case Study Method*, edited by R. Gomm, M. Hammersley, & P. Foster, p. 1-16. London: Sage Publications.
- Handler, S. (2014). *An Alternative Age-Friendly Handbook for the Socially Engaged Practitioner*. Manchester: The University of Manchester Library.
- Hansen, T. & Slagsvold, B. (2016). Late-Life Loneliness in 11 European Countries: Results from the Generations and Gender Survey. In *Social Indicators Research*, 124(1): 1-20.
- Harris, O. (1981). Households as Natural Units. In *Marriage and the Market*, edited by K. Young, C. Wolkowits, & R. McCullagh, p. 136-155. London: Routledge.
- Harrison, M. & Davis, C. (2000). Housing, Social Policy and Difference: Disability, Ethnicity,

- Gender and Housing. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Hawkesworth, M. (2001). Disabling Spatialities and the Regulation of a Visible Secret. In *Urban Studies*, 38(2): 299-318.
- Heywood, F., Oldman, C., & Means, R. (2002). *Housing and Home in Later Life*. Milton Keynes: Open University Press.
- Hockey, J. (1999). The Ideal of Home. In *Ideal Homes? Social Change and Domestic Life*, edited by T. Chapman & J. Hockey, p. 108-118. London: Routledge.
- Horgas, A. L., Wilms, H. U., & Baltes, M. M. (1998). Daily Life in Very Old Age: Everyday Activities as Expressions of Daily Life. In *Gerontologist*, 38(5): 556-568.
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or Method? A Critical Review of Qualitative Case Study Reports. In *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on* 'Health and Well-being, 9(1): 23606.
- Imrie, R. (2010). Disability, Embodiment and the Meaning of the Home. In *Towards Enabling Geographies: 'Disabled' Bodies and Minds in Society and Space*, edited by E. Hall, V. Chouinard, & R. Wilton, p. 23-44. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Jacobs, J. (1961). *The Death and Life of Great American Cities*. Maryland, USA: Vintage, Westminster.
- Johnson, P. & Mullins, L. (1987). Growing Old and Lonely in Different Societies: Toward a Comparative Perspective. In *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 2: 7-27.
- Jones, P. & Evans, J. (2012). Rescue Geography: Place Making, Affect and Regeneration. In *Urban Studies*, 49(11): 2315-2330.
- Kaika, M. (2004). Interrogating the Geographies of the Familiar: Domesticating Nature and Constructing the Autonomy of the Modern Home. In *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 28: 265-286.
- Keating, N., Eales, J., & Phillips, J. E. (2013). Age-Friendly Rural Communities: Conceptualizing "Best-Fit." In *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 32(4): 319-332.
- Krause, N. (2004). Neighbourhoods, Health and Well-Being in Later Life. In *Focus on Aging in Context*, edited by H. W. Wahl, R. Scheidt, & P. Windley, p. 223-249. New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Katz, S. (2000). Busy Bodies: Activity, Aging, and the Management of Everyday Life. In *Journal of Aging Studies*, 14: 135-152.
- Kwan, M. (2013). Beyond Space (As We Knew It): Toward Temporally Integrated Geographies of Segregation, Health, and Accessibility. In *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 103: 1078-1086.

- Lager, D., van Hoven, B., & Huigen, P. (2013). Dealing With Change in Old Age: Negotiating Working-Class Belonging in a Neighbourhood in the Process of Urban Renewal in the Netherlands. In *Geoforum*, 50: 54-61.
- Lager, D., van Hoven, B., & Huigen, P. (2015). Understanding Older Adults' Social Capital in Place: Obstacles to and Opportunities for Social Contacts in the Neighbourhood. In *Geoforum*, 59: 87-97.
- Lager, D., van Hoven, B., & Huigen, P. (2016). Rhythms, Aging, and Neighbourhoods. In *Environment and Planning A*, 0(0): 1-16.
- Laurier, E. & Philo, C. (2006). Cold Shoulders and Napkins Handed: Gestures of Responsibility. In *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 31: 193-207.
- Lawson, V. (1998). Hierarchical Households and Gendered Migration in Latin America: Feminist Extensions to Migration Research. In *Progress in Human Geography*, 22(1): 39-53.
- Lee, S. (2014). The Rhythm of Ageing Amongst Chinese Elders in Sheltered Housing. In *Ageing & Society*, 34: 1505-1524.
- Lefebvre, H. (1991). The Production of Space. Oxford: Blackwell.
- Lefebvre, H. (2004). Rhythmanalysis: Space, Time and Everyday Life. London: Continuum.
- Lefebvre, H. & Régulier, C. (2004). Attempt at the Rhythmanalysis of Mediterranean Cities. In *Rhythmanalysis*. *Space, Time and Everyday Life*, edited by S. Elden, & G. Moore, p. 85-100. London: Continuum.
- Liaschenko, J. (2000). Ethics: The Moral Geography of Care Work. In *Home Care Provider*, 5: 126-128.
- Liddle, J., Scharf, T., Bartlam, B., Bernard, M., & Sim, J. (2014). Exploring the Age-Friendliness of Purpose-Built Retirement Communities: Evidence from England. In *Ageing & Society*, 34(9): 1601-1629.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lui, C., Everingham, J., Warburton, J., Cuthill, M., & Bartlett, H. (2009). What Makes a Community Age-Friendly: A Review of International Literature. In *Australian Journal on Ageing*, 28(3): 116-121.
- Manzo, L. (2003). Beyond House and Haven: Toward a Revisioning of Emotinal Relationships with Places. In *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 23: 47-61.
- Marhánková, J. H. (2011). Leisure in Old Age: Disciplinary Practices Surrounding the Discourse of Active Ageing. In *International Journal of Ageing and Later Life*, 6: 5-32.

- Marks, D. (1999). *Disability: Controversial Debates and Psychosocial Perspectives*. London: Routledge.
- Massey, D. (1992). A Place Called Home. In New Formations, 17: 3-15.
- May, J. & Thrift, N. (2001). Timespace. Geographies of Temporality. Oxon: Routledge.
- Means, R. (2007). Safe as Houses? Ageing in Place and Vulnerable Older People in the UK. In *Social Policy & Administration*, 41(1): 65-85.
- Mels, T. (2004). *Reanimating Places: A Geography of Rhythms*. Aldershot: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Menec, V. H., Means, R., Keating, N., Parkhurst, G., & Eales, J. (2011). Conceptualizing Age-Friendly Communities. In *Canadian Journal on Aging*, 30(3): 497-493.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Miller, D. (2001). Home Possessions: Material Culture Behind Closed Doors. Oxford: Berg.
- Milligan, C. (2000). Bearing the Burden: Towards a Restructured Geography of Caring. In *Area*, 32: 49-58.
- Milligan, C. (2003). Location or Dis-location? Towards a Conceptualisation of People and Place in the Care-Giving Experience. In *Social & Cultural Geography*, 4: 455-470.
- Milligan, C. (2005). From Home to 'Home': Situating Emotions Within the Caregiving Experience. In *Environment & Planning*, 37: 2105-2120.
- Milligan, C. (2009). *There's No Place Like Home: Place and Care in an Ageing Society*. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport. (2018). *Programma Langer Thuis*. Accessed on October 10, 2018.
  - https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/zorg-en-ondersteuning-thuis/documenten/rapporten/2018/06/15/programma-langer-thuis
- Moore, J. (2000). Placing Home in Context. In *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 20(3): 207-218.
- Moulaert, T. & Garon, S. (2016). Age-Friendly Cities and Communities in International Comparison: Political Lessons, Scientific Avenues, and Democratic Issues. In *International Perspectives on Aging*, edited by J. L. Powell & C. Sheying. Springer International Publishing Switzerland.
- The National Foundation for the Elderly. (2019). *About Us.* Accessed on March 3, 2019. https://www.ouderenfonds.nl/about-us#
- Nowotny, H., Scott, P., & Gibbons, M. (2001). Re-Thinking Science: Knowledge and the Public

- in An Age of Uncertainty. London: Polity Press.
- Oldman, C. & Beresford, B. (2000). Home Sick Home: Using the Housing Experience of Disabled Children to Suggest a New Theoretical Framework. In *Housing Studies*, 15(3): 429-442.
- Olwig, K. (1998). Epilogue. Contested Homes: Homemaking and the Making of Anthropology. In *Migrants of Identity: Perceptions of Home in a World of Movement*, edited by N. Rapport & A. Dawson, p. 225-236. Oxford: Berg.
- Oswald, F. & Wahl, H. W. (2005). Dimensions of the Meaning of Home. In *Home and Identity in Late Life: International Perspectives*, edited by G. D. Rowles & H. Chaudhury, p. 21-46. New York: Springer.
- Oswald, E., Jopp, D., Rott, C., & Wahl, H. W. (2011). Is Aging in Place a Resource for or Risk to Life Satisfaction? In *The Gerontologist*, 51(2): 238-250.
- Parkes, D. & Thrift, N. (1979). Time Spacemakers and Entrainment. In *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 4: 353-372.
- PBL. (2013). Vergrijzing en Ruimte: Gevolgen voor de Woningmarkt, Vrijetijdsbesteding, Mobiliteit en Regionale Economie. The Hague: Planbureau voor de Leefomgeving (PBL).
- Percival, J. (2002). Domestic Spaces: Uses and Meanings in the Daily Lives of Older People. In *Ageing & Society*, 22: 729-749.
- Phillips, J., N. Walford, A. Hockey, N. Foreman, & M. Lewis. (2013). Older People and Outdoor Environments: Pedestrian Anxieties and Barriers in the Use of Familiar and Unfamiliar Spaces. In *Geoforum*, 50: 113-124.
- Phillipson, C. (2007). The "Elected" and the "Excluded": Sociological Perspectives on the Experience of Place and Community in Old Age. In *Ageing & Society*, 27(3): 321-42.
- Phillipson, C. (2010). Ageing and Urban Society: Growing Old in the "Century of the City." In *The Sage Handbook Of Social Gerontology*, edited by C. Phillipson & D. Dannefer, p. 597-606. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Phillipson, C. (2015). Developing Age-Friendly Urban Communities: Critical Issues for Public Policy. In *Public Policy & Aging Report*, 25: 4-8.
- Plouffe, L., Garon, S., Brownoff, J., Eve, D., Foucault, M.-L. Lawrence, F., Lessard-Baupré, J.-P., & Toews, V. (2012). Advancing Age-Friendly Communities in Canada. In *Canadian Review of Social Policy*, 2: 68-69.
- Plouffe, L., Kalache, A., & Voelcker, I. (2016). A Critical Review of the WHO Age-Friendly

- City Methodology and its Implementation. In *Age-Friendly Cities and Communities in International Comparison: Political Lessons, Scientific Avenues, and Democratic Issues*, edited by T. Moulaert & S. Garon, p. 19-36. Springer International Publishing Switzerland.
- Porteous, D. (1995). Domicide: The Destruction of Home. In *The Home: Words, Interpretations, Meanings and Environments*, edited by D. Benjamin, p. 151-162.

  Aldershot: Avebury.
- Ragin, C. C. (1992). Introduction: Cases of "What is a Case?" In *What is A Case?*, edited by C. C. Ragin & H. S. Becker, p. 1-18. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Rakoff, R. (1977). Ideology in Everyday Life: The Meaning of the Home. In *Politics & Society*, 7(1): 85-104.
- Rapport, N. & Dawson, A. (1998). Opening a Debate. In *Migrants of Identity: Perceptions of Home in a World of Movement*, edited by N. Rapport & A. Dawson, p. 3-38. Oxford: Berg.
- Rémillard-Boilard, S. (2018). The Development of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities. In *Age-Friendly Cities and Communities: A Global Perspective*, edited by T. Buffel, S. Handler, & C. Phillipson, p. 13-32. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Ridgway, P., Simpson, A., Wittman, F., & Wheeler, G. (1994). Home Making and Community Building: Notes and Empowerment and Place. In *Journal of mental Health Administration*, 21(4): 407-418.
- Rijksoverheid. (2017). Zorg en Ondersteuning Thuis: Wet Maatschappelijke Ondersteuning (Wmo). Accessed on February 17, 2018.
  - https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/zorg-en-ondersteuning-thuis/wmo-2015
- Rijksoverheid. (2018). *Aanpak Eenzaamheid Onder Ouderen*. Accessed on November 11, 2018.
  - https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/eenzaamheid/aanpak-eenzaamheid
- Rowles, G. D. (1978). *Prisoners of Space? Exploring the Geographical Experience of Older People*. Colorado: Westview Press.
- Rowles, G. D. (1983). Place and Personal Identity in Old Age: Observations From Appalachia. In *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 3: 299–313.
- Rowles, G. D. (1993). Evolving Images of Place in Ageing and Ageing in Place. In *Generations*, 17(2): 65-70.
- Rowles, G. D. & Watkins J. F. (2003). History, Habit, Heart and Hearth: On Making Spaces

- Into Places. In *Aging Independently: Living, Arrangements and Mobility*, edited by K. Warner Schaie, H. W. Wahl, H. Mollenkopf, & F. Oswald, p. 77-96. New York: Springer Publishing.
- Rubinstein, R. (1989). The Home Environments of Older People: A Description of the Psychosocial Processes Linking Person to Place. In *Journal of Gerontology*, 44: 45-53.
- Saunders, P. (1990). A Nation of Home Owners. London: Unwin Hyman.
- Scharlach, A. E. & Lehning, A. J. (2013). Ageing-Friendly Communities and Social Inclusion in The United States of America. In *Ageing & Society*, 33(1) 110-136.
- Schröder, N. (2006). Spaces and Places in Motion: Spatial Concepts in Contemporary American Literature. Tübingen: Gunter Narr Verlag.
- Schwanen, T., Hardill, I., & Lucas, S. (2012). Spatialities of Ageing: The Co-Construction and Coevolution of Old Age and Space. In *Geoforum*, 43(6): 1291-1295.
- Schwanen, T. & Kwan, M. (2012). Critical Space-Time Geographies. In *Environment & Planning A*, 44: 2043-2048.
- SCP. (2017). Overall Rapportage Sociaal Domein 2016: Burgers (de)centraal. The Hague: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau (SCP).
- Seamon, D. (1979). A Geography of the Lifeworld: Movement, Rest and Encounter. London: Croom Helm.
- Seamon, D. (1980). Body-Subject, Time-Space Routines, and Place-Ballets. In *The Human Experience of Space and Place*, edited by A. Buttimer, & D. Seamon, p. 148-165. New York: Routledge.
- Shoval, N., Auslander, G., Cohen-Shalom, K., Isaacson, M., Landau, R., & Heinik, J. (2010). What can we Learn about the Mobility of the Elderly in the GPS Era? In *Journal of Transport Geography*, 18: 603-612.
- Short, J. R. (2006). Foreword. In *At Home*, edited by I. Cierraad, p. xi-x. Syracuse, NY: Syracuse University Press.
- Sibley, D. (1995). *Geographies of Exclusion: Society and Difference in the West*. London: Routledge.
- Simons, H. (2009). Case Study Research in Practice. London: Sage Publications.
- Skinner, M. W., Cloutier, D., & Andrews, G. J. (2015). Geographies of Ageing: Progress and Possibilities After Decades of Change. In *Progress in Human Geography*, 39(6): 1-24.
- Smetcoren, A. S. (2015). *I'm Not Leaving: Critical Perspectives on Ageing in Place*. Brussels: Vrije Universiteit Brussel.
- Spinney, J. (2010). Improvising Rhythms: Re-Reading Urban Time and Space through

- Everyday Practices of Cycling. In *Geographies of Rhythm. Nature, Place, Mobilities and Bodies*, edited by T. Edensor, p. 113-127. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Stake, R. E. (1995). The Art of Case Study Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Stake, R. E. (2003). Case Studies. In Strategies of Qualitative Inquiry, edited by N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln, p. 134-164. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Steels, S. (2015). Key Characteristics of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities: A Review. In *Cities*, 47: 45-52.
- Sterker Sociaal Werk. (2019). *Vrijwilligerswerk voor Ouderen*. Accessed on January 18, 2019. https://www.sterker.nl/vrijwilligerswerk-voor-ouderen/
- Stjernborg, V., Wretstrand, A., & Tesfahuney, M. (2014). Everyday Life Mobilities of Older Persons: A Case Study of Ageing in a Suburban Landscape in Sweden. In *Mobilities*, 10(3): 383-401.
- Sugiyama, T., C. W. Thompson, & S. Alves. (2009). Associations Between Neighborhood Open Space Attributes and Quality of Life for Older People in Britain. In *Environment and Behavior*, 41: 3-21.
- Taylor, L. (2016). Case Study Methodology. In *Key Methods in Geography*, edited by N. Clifford, M. Cope, T. Gillespie, & S. French, p. 581-595. London: Sage Publications.
- Thomas, G. (2011). A Typology for the Case Study in Social Science Following a Review of Definition, Discourse, and Structure. In *Qualitative Inquiry*, 17(6): 511-521.
- Thomése, G. C. F., Buffel, T., & Phillipson, C. (2018). Neighbourhood Change, Social Inequalities and Age-Friendly Communities. In *Age-Friendly Cities and Communities: A Global Perspective*, edited by T. Buffel, S. Handler, & C. Phillipson, p. 33-49. Bristol: Policy Press.
- Thomése, G. C. F. & van Tilburg, T. G. (2000). Neighbouring Networks and Environmental Dependency: Differential Effects of Neighbourhood Charactersitics on the Relative Size and Composition of Neighbouring Network of Older Adults in the Netherlands. In *Ageing & Society*, 20(1): 55-78.
- Thomése, G. C. R., van Tilburg, T. G., & Knipscheer, C. P. M. (2003). Continuation of Exchange with Neighbours in Later Life: The Importance of the Neighbourhood Context. In *Personal Relations*, 10(4): 535-550.
- Tuan, Y. F. (2004). Home. In *Patterned Ground: The Entanglements of Nature and Culture*, edited by S. Harrison, S. Pile, & N. Thrift, p. 164-165. London: Reaktion Books.
- Turel, H. S., Yigit, E. M., & Altug, I. (2007). Evaluation of Elderly People's Requirements

- in Public Open Spaces: A Case Study in Bornova District (Izmir, Turkey). In *Building and Environment*, 42: 2035-2045.
- Twigg, J. (2000). Bathing: The Body and Community Care. London: Routledge.
- Van der Meer, M., Droogleever Fortuijn, J., & Thissen, F. (2008). Vulnerability and Environmental Stress of Older Adults in Deprived Neighbourhoods in the Netherlands. In *Tijdschrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie*, 99(1): 53-64.
- Van Eck, D. & Pijpers, R. (2017). Encounters in Place Ballet: A Phenomenological Perspective on Older People's Walking Routines in an Urban Park. In *Area*, 49(2): 166-173.
- Van Melik, R. & Pijpers, R. (2017). Older People's Self-Selected Spaces of Encounter in Urban Aging Environments in the Netherlands. In *City & Community* 16(3): 284-303.
- Van Nimwegen, N. & Van Praag, C. (2012). *Bevolkingsvraagstukken in Nederland Anno 2012*. *Actief Ouder Worden in Nederland*. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Varley, A. (2008). A Place Like This? Stories of Dementia, Home, and the Self. In *Environment & Panning D: Society and Space*, 26: 47-67.
- Venn, S. & Arber, S. (2011). Day-Time Sleep and Active Ageing in Later Life. In *Ageing & Society*, 31: 197-216.
- Völker, B., Flap, H. & Lindenberg, S. (2007). When Are Neighbourhoods Communities? In *European Sociological Review*, 23(1): 99-114.
- Warth, L. (2016). The WHO Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities:
  Origins, Developments and Challenges. In Age-Friendly Cities and Communities in International Comparison: Political Lessons, Scientific Avenues, and Democratic Issues, edited by T. Moulaert & S. Garon, p. 37-46. Springer International Publishing Switzerland.
- Watson, S. (2006). City Publics. The (Dis)enchantments of Urban Encounters. London: Routledge.
- Watson, S. (2009). The Magic of the Market Place: Sociality in a Neglected Public Space. In *Urban Studies*, 46: 1577-1591.
- Wennberg, H., Stahl, A., & Hydén, C. (2009). Older Pedestrians' Perceptions of the Outdoor Environment in a Year-Round Perspective. In *European Journal of Ageing*, 6: 277-290.
- Wieviorka, M. (1992). Case studies: History or Sociology? In *What is a Case? Exploring the Foundations of Social Inquiry*, edited by C. Ragin & H. S. Becker, p. 159-172. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Wiles, J. L. (2005). Conceptualizing Place in the Care of Older People: The Contributions of

- Geographical Gerontology. In *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, 14: 100-108.
- Wiles, J. L. (2011). Reflections on Being a Recipient of Care: Vexing the Concept of Vulnerability. In *Social & Cultural Geography*, 12: 573-588.
- Wiles, J. L. & Allen, R. E. S. (2010). Embodied Ageing in Place: What Does It Mean to Grow Old? In *Towards Enabling Geographies: "Disabled" Bodies and Minds in Society and Space*, edited by V. Chouinard, E. Hall, & R. Wilton, p. 217-235. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Limited.
- Wiles, J. L., & Allen, R. E. S., Palmer, A. J., Hayman, J., Keeping, S., & Kerse, N. (2009).

  Older People and their Social Spaces: A study of Wellbeing and Attachment to Place in Aoteraroa New Zealand. In *Social Science & Medicine*, 68(4): 664-671.
- Wiles, J. L., Leibing, A., Guberman, N., Reeve, J., & Allen, R. E. S. (2012). The Meaning of "Ageing in Place" to Older People. In *The Gerontologist*, 52(3): 357-366.
- Williams, A. (2002). Changing Geographies of Care: Employing the Concept of Therapeutic Landscapes as a Framework in Examining Home Space. In *Social Science and Medicine*, 55: 141-154.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2002). *Active Ageing: A Policy Framework*. Geneva: WHO Press.
- WHO. (2007a). Global Age-Friendly Cities: A Guide. Geneva: WHO Press.
- WHO. (2007b). Checklist of Essential Features of Age-Friendly Cities. Geneva: WHO Press.
- WHO. (2018). Age-Friendly World: Browse the Network. Accessed on October 16, 2018. https://extranet.who.int/agefriendlyworld/network/
- Yang, K. & Victor, C. R. (2008). The Prevalence of and Risk Factors for Loneliness Among Older People in China. In *Ageing & Society*, 28(3): 305-327.
- Yin, R. K. (2012). *Applications of Case Study Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case Study Research Design and Methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Young, I. M. (1997). *Intersecting Voices: Dilemmas of Gender, Political Philosophy and Policy*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Zidén, L., Wenestam, C.-G., & Hansson-Scherman, M. (2008). A Life-Breaking Event: Early Experiences of the Consequences of a Hip Fracture for Elderly People. In *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 22: 801-811.
- Zola, I. (1989). Towards the Necessary Universalising of a Disability Policy. In *The Milbank*

Quarterly, 67(2): 401-428.